# Patients with anxiety and/or depression co-occurring with substance use disorders in psychiatric outpatient clinics

Detection of co-occurring substance use disorders, patient characteristics and the effectiveness of integrated treatment

# Linda Elise Couëssurel Wüsthoff

Dissertation Norwegian Centre for Addiction Research Institute of Clinical Medicine Faculty of Medicine UNIVERSITY OF OSLO

Oslo, March 2015





# © Linda Elise Couëssurel Wüsthoff, 2015

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo No. 2075

ISBN 978-82-8333-074-8

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Cover: Hanne Baadsgaard Utigard. Print production: John Grieg AS, Bergen.

Produced in co-operation with Akademika Publishing. The thesis is produced by Akademika Publishing merely in connection with the thesis defence. Kindly direct all inquiries regarding the thesis to the copyright holder or the unit which grants the doctorate.

"A good head and a good heart are always a formidable combination" Nelson Mandela

# **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgements	I		
Abbreviations			
PrefaceV			
SummaryV	I		
Sammendrag (Norwegian)	1		
List of papersX	/		
1. Introduction – Context and terminology	l		
1.1 Substance use disorders and mental disorders	1		
1.2 Co-occurring mental and substance use disorders	2		
1.3 Aetiological theories on co-occurring mental and substance use disorders	2		
1.4 Setting - Community Mental Health Centres	4		
2. Background	5		
2.1 The prevalence and characteristics of patients with co-occurring mental and substance use disorders	6		
2.2 Clinical course and treatment services	7		
2.3 Integrated treatment	8		
2.4 Methodological issues in treatment reserach1	1		
3. Aims of the thesis 1	3		
4. Material and methods	5		
4.1 Design and procedures1	5		
4.2 Material1	5		
4.3 Research instruments1	7		
4.4 Interventions 2	1		
4.5 Statistical analyses 2	2		
4.6 Ethical aspects 2	3		
5. Results	5		
5.1 Identifying co-occurring substance use disorders in community mental health centres. Tailored approaches are needed. (Paper I)	5		
5.2 A cross-sectional study of patients with and without substance use disorders in community			
mental health centres. (Paper II)	5		
5.3 The effectiveness of integrated treatment in patients with substance use disorders co-			
occurring with anxiety and/or depression – a group randomized trial. (Paper III)	5		
5.4 When research meets reality: lessons learned from a pragmatic multisite group-randomized			
clinical trial on psychosocial interventions in the psychiatric and addiction field. (Paper IV) 2	8		
6. Discussion of the methodology	Э		
6.1 Discussion of the methodology of study 1 (papers I and II)	C		
6.1.1 Statistical conclusion validity	)		
6.1.2 Construct validity	2		
6.1.3 External validity	1		
6.1.4 Limitations of the designs	4		
6.2 Discussion of the methodology of study 2 (naners III and IV)	5		
6.2.1 Statistical conclusion validity	5		
6.2.1 Internal validity	, ,		
6.2.2 Construct on little	3		
6.2.3 Construct valiality	1		
6.2.4 External validity	)		
6.2.5 Limitations of the designs	L		

7. Discussion of the main results	53
7.1 Identifying patients with co-occurring mental and substance use disorders in community mental health centres	53
7.2 The characteristics of patients with co-occurring mental and substance use disorders in community mental health centres	55
7.3 The effectiveness of integrated treatment among patients with substance use disorders co- occurring with anxiety and/or depression in community mental health centres	57
7.4 Lessons and adaptations in research involving psychosocial interventions for patients with co	- -
8. General conclusions	59 62
References	63
Appendix	85
Papers I – IV	85

# Acknowledgements

The work presented in this thesis was carried out between 2007 and 2015 at the Norwegian Centre for Addiction Research at the University of Oslo. The study was funded by The Research Council of Norway, The Regional Centre for Co-occurring Disorders of Substance Abuse and Mental Health, and The Centre of Competence for Addiction Issues – region east. It was based on a consortium between The Regional Centre for Co-occurring Disorders of Substance Abuse and Mental Health, The Centre of Competence for Addiction Issues – region east, The University of Oslo, and Sintef Health. Additional funding was provided by the Norwegian Centre for Addiction Research (SERAF), University of Oslo.

I could not have gone through with this work without the support from the management of my workplace, the Agency of Social and Welfare Services at the City of Oslo; Lilleba Fauske, Egil Bakke, Joakim Hauge, and Mari Kjølberg. For that, I am tremendously grateful.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisors Helge Waal and Rolf Gråwe. I want to thank Helge for sharing his in-depth knowledge of this field and his warm humour. He would always find an interesting angle to the data which lifted my spirits with hope that this would be an interesting paper, after all, and we would agree that the supervision had been a "successful date". Rolf initiated and led the project and has given interesting insights throughout the process.

The first study of this thesis was initiated and conducted by Torleif Ruud and Rolf between 2002 and 2007. The dataset originated from Sintef Health Research. It was generously shared with me for analysis. Both Torleif and Rolf have been available for clarifying questions throughout the process. Additionally, Solfrid Lilleeng at Sintef Health Research has given valuable help in coding the data.

In addition to Helge, Rolf and me, the project group of our clinical study consisted of Amund Aakerholt and Helge Haugerud. Amund Aakerholt has contributed greatly to the planning and implementation of the study together with the acquisition of data. In addition, Helge Haugerud has contributed to the planning of the study.

I am particularly grateful to the local trial administrators: Erik-Kristian Zahl-Pettersen, Guro Svane Bratset, Line Aksdal Eriksen, Claes Brisendal, Torunn Hansen Melø, Arve Forbord, Turid Alvestad Tomren, and Vigdis Troøyen Foseide. They made enormous efforts in running the trial, assessing patients, and collecting data at each of their community mental health centres. I know what a struggle this has been for most of you. This study could not have been done without you! Likewise, I want to thank all the therapists, leaders and other staff at the participating community mental health centres; DPS Fredrikstad, Lillestrøm DPS, Tiller DPS, Allmennpsykiatrisk poliklinikk Levanger, DPS Molde, Stjørdal DPS, Ålesund DPS, and Orkdal DPS, for their contribution to and support of the study. Additionally, all the therapists in the intervention group are acknowledged for their time, patience, and effort in learning and using integrated treatment on their patients. I also want to give special thanks to the patients at the participating community mental health centres for their time and patience in participating in the study. This study could not have been done without your participation.

Several people have given me valuable statistical guidance during all these years; first, the PhD students' service at the Department of Biostatistics, University of Oslo; then, Ingvild Dalen, also at the Department of Biostatistics, University of Oslo; Jo Røislien; Jørgen Bramness; and Magne Thoresen, Professor and Head of the Department of Biostatistics, University of Oslo.

I would like to thank Priscilla Martinez and Desiree Madah-Amiri, both fellow PhD students at SERAF. They have both generously read through the final drafts of my articles and cleaned them of "scandiwegian-english". The final draft of the dissertation was "cleaned" by Julia Norman.

I am very grateful to have been part of the milieu at SERAF, and I want to thank Jørgen Bramness, Helge and Edle for establishing this very supportive environment and positive attitude that is shared by everyone! I also want to thank all the administrative staff: Pernille, Bente, Julie, Hela, and Pål, for always being positive and helpful in the big and little things along the way. A special thanks to Pål, our IT-guru, IT-doctor, and IT-God! Additionally, I want to thank all my fellow PhD students, especially those of you who have travelled with me from the very beginning: Ingrid, Gabrielle, Monica, Katinka, Linn, Philipp, and Nikolaj. It has been a long and windy road.

I could not have done any of this without the loving support from my family: my dear husband Dominique and my son Aksel. I know that Aksel is very anxious to be able to do all the things that have been postponed to "when I've finished my PhD". A special thanks to my mother-in-law, Charlette Vaisse, who generously lend us space in her house in the Pyrenees where I could write up my thesis under the most perfect work-conditions. Merci!

Linda

Ш

# Abbreviations

ASI	Addiction Severity Index
AUDIT	Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test
AUS	Alcohol Use Scale
CI	Confidence Interval
DSM-IV	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4 <sup>th</sup> edition
DUDIT	Drug Use Disorder Identification Test
DUS	Drug Use Scale
EuropASI	Addiction Severity Index, European version
GEE	Generalized Estimated Equations analyses
HoNOS	Health of the Nation Outcome Scales
ICC	Intraclass Correlation Coefficients
ICD-10	International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, $10^{th}$ edition
NPR	Norwegian Patient Register
OR	Odds Ratio
RCT	Randomized Controlled Trial
PRISM	Psychiatric Research Interview for Substance and Mental disorders
SATS-r	Substance Abuse Treatment Scale revised
SCID-I	Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV, axis 1 disorders
SCID-II	Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV, axis 2 disorders
SCL-90r	Symptom Check List 90 items revised
SPSS	Statistical Package for the Social Sciences

# Preface

My interest in patients with co-occurring mental health and substance use disorders started when I was working as a junior registrar / resident specializing in psychiatry on an inpatient ward for patients with chronic psychotic disorders from 2003 to 2004 (Vor Frue Hospital). Just a couple of years earlier the patient group of this hospital was dominated by older schizophrenic patients with no substance abuse and long-term treatment on the ward. By 2003, the patient group was dominated by younger patients with schizophrenia co-occurring with substance use disorders. At the same time, increasing demands for effectiveness had shortened the average patient stay on the ward from years to months. The hospital is located in the centre of Oslo where illegal substances are easily available. Several of these young patients liked using drugs for a variety of reasons: it was a form of opposition towards authority (adults in general and treatment providers like myself, specifically); it seemed to be a way of creating an identity in a subgroup of "equals"; and it seemed that many of them liked the feeling of balancing on the edge of psychosis. This made it difficult to establish a common understanding with patients about the harmfulness of the drug use and the fact that the drugs exacerbated the recurring bizarre and devastating psychotic episodes that only made them sicker each time. This necessitated involuntary treatment which, in turn, increased their despite of authority and made it even more difficult to establish a rapport and a shared understanding of the problem and its possible solutions. For me, as a treatment provider, this was extremely difficult to watch. In addition, as this change in the patient group had happened over a short time, the staff did not have the skills to meet the challenges or to provide treatment approaches tailored to this group of patients.

A few years later, I was able to take part in a supervision group for doctors working with patients with substance use disorders led by Professor Helge Waal. He was interested in recruiting physicians into research, and when he announced that a PhD fellowship concerning the effectiveness of integrated treatment for co-occurring mental disorders and substance use disorders in psychiatric outpatient clinics was available, I gladly applied.

The project was initiated and led by Rolf Gråwe, a senior researcher at Sintef Health Research at the time. It was organized as a consortium between the Regional Centre for Co-occurring Disorders of Substance Abuse and Mental Health (represented by Amund Aakerholt), the Centre of Competence for Addiction Issues – Region East (represented by Helge Haugerud), the Norwegian Centre for

Addiction Research at the University of Oslo (represented by Helge Waal), and Sintef Health Research (represented by Rolf Gråwe). By the time I came into the project, the funding was established and the participating community mental health centres were recruited. We continued with writing and revising the treatment manual, engaging local trial administrators and therapists and teaching them how to run the project and assess and treat patients. This study and its results are described in papers III and IV.

To complement our treatment study with an epidemiological point of view, we looked at data from a study of the development of community mental health centres (including psychiatric outpatient clinics) as part of the evaluation of the National Plan for Mental Health between 2002 and 2007. This project had been led and conducted by Rolf Gråwe and Torleif Ruud, both working at Sintef Health Research at the time. We found this material useful in regard to studying patient characteristics and treatment outcomes for psychiatric outpatients with co-occurring substance use disorders compared to psychiatric outpatients without this comorbidity. This study and its results are described in papers I and II.

## Summary

#### Background:

Increasing evidence shows that substance use disorders and psychiatric illness often co-occur, and that this co-morbidity renders treatment more difficult and results in greater use of health services. However, such studies have primarily focused on inpatient populations dominated by psychotic disorders, whereas our studies investigate patients in community mental health centres where affective and anxiety disorders are more prominent.

#### Aims:

The overall aims were: 1) to examine if patients with co-occurring mental disorders and substance use disorders were detected in psychiatric outpatient clinics and if they differed from outpatients without substance use disorders (papers I and II). 2) to investigate whether integrated treatment, which has been shown to be effective for inpatients with substance use disorders co-occurring with severe mental disorders, is as effective in outpatients with substance use disorders co-occurring with less severe mental disorders like anxiety and depression (papers III and IV).

#### Material and methods:

This thesis consists of two studies. The first study was a cross-sectional study that used a subset of data from an evaluation of the National Plan for Mental Health. All patients seen in eight community mental health centres during a 4-week period in 2007 were studied. The number of included patients was 2154. The centres were located in both rural and urban areas of Norway. The patients were diagnosed according to the ICD-10 diagnoses and assessed with the Health of the Nation Outcome Scales, the Alcohol Use Scale, and the Drug Use Scale.

Our second study was a pragmatic group randomized clinical trial comparing the effectiveness of integrated treatment to treatment as usual in community mental health centres. Five centres were drawn to the intervention group and four to the control group. The allocation to treatment conditions was not blinded. New referrals were screened with the Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test (AUDIT) and the Drug Use Disorder Identification Test (DUDIT). Those who scored above the cut-off level of these instruments were assessed with the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV 1 and 2. We included patients with anxiety and/or depression together with one or more substance use

disorders. The outcome measures were the AUDIT, the DUDIT, the European version of the Addiction Severity Index, the Symptom Check List-90r, and the Substance Abuse Treatment Scale. We included 55 patients in the intervention group and 21 in the control group. We used a linear multi-level model.

#### **Results:**

According to our first study, all the different measures used gave low prevalence rates of substance use disorders, and the inter-measure agreement was poor. A combination of the measures gave prevalence rates closer to what would be expected on the basis of previous epidemiological studies. Further, the patients with substance use disorders in community mental health centres were more frequently male, single and living alone, had more severe morbidity, less anxiety and mood disorders, less outpatient treatment and less improvement with regard to recovery from psychological symptoms compared to patients with no substance use disorder.

According to our second study, both the intervention group and the control group reduced their alcohol and substance use during the trial, but there was no change in psychiatric symptoms in either group. However, the intervention group had a greater increase in motivation for substance use treatment after 12 months than the control group. There were no adverse events.

#### Conclusion:

The community mental health centres participating in this study lacked sufficient diagnostic routines and instruments to identify substance use disorders. Clinical research that relies on the methods used in this study will need combined approaches to provide reliable findings. Patients with cooccurring mental and substance use disorders in community mental health centres differ from patients without this comorbidity. Consequently, community mental health centres need to implement systematic screening and diagnostic procedures in order to detect the special needs of these patients and improve their treatment. Both clinical practice and research would benefit from valid, reliable screening methods and diagnostic procedures.

Integrated treatment is effective in increasing the motivation for treatment among patients with anxiety and/or depression co-occurring with substance use disorders in outpatient clinics. Studies of complex interventions in unselected clinical populations are essential in the development of evidence-based treatments in the psychiatric and addiction field. The methodological problems of

such studies are considerable but possible to overcome by thorough planning and by addressing the obstacles at an early stage.

# Sammendrag (Norwegian)

#### Bakgrunn:

Epidemiologiske og kliniske studier har gjennom en årrekke vist at det er stor samsykelighet mellom ruslidelser og psykiske lidelser, at denne samsykeligheten gjør behandlingen vanskeligere og at den resulterer i lengre sykdomsforløp og større forbruk av helsetjenester. Imidlertid har tidligere studier hovedsakelig undersøkt innlagte pasienter i sykehus med alvorlige psykiske lidelser, som psykoselidelser, sammen med ruslidelser. I våre studier har vi undersøkt pasienter i psykiatriske poliklinikker der lettere psykiske lidelser som angst og depresjon er mer vanlig.

#### Formål:

De overordnede formålene med studiene var: 1) å undersøke om pasienter med ruslidelse og psykiske lidelser blir fanget opp i psykiatriske poliklinikker og om disse pasientene skiller seg fra pasienter uten slik samsykelighet (artikkel I og II). 2) å undersøke om Integrert Behandling, som har vist seg å være effektiv i behandling av inneliggende pasienter med alvorlig psykisk lidelse sammen med ruslidelse, også er effektiv for å behandle polikliniske pasienter med lettere psykiske lidelser slik som angst og depresjon sammen med ruslidelse (artikkel III og IV).

#### Materiale og metode:

Dette doktorgradsarbeidet består av to studier. Vår første studie var en tverrsnittsstudie der vi gjorde bruk av data fra evalueringen av Opptrappingsplanen for Psykisk Helse. Alle pasienter som mottok behandling i åtte Distriktspsykiatriske sentre (DPS) i løpet av en 4 ukers periode i 2007 ble undersøkt, og 2154 pasienter ble inkludert i studien. DPS'ene var lokalisert i både urbane og rurale strøk i Norge. Pasientene ble diagnostisert i henhold til det internasjonale klassifikasjonssystemet for diagnoser (ICD-10) og undersøkt med Health of the Nation Outcome Scales, Alcohol Use Scale og Drug Use Scale.

Vår andre studie var en pragmatisk, grupperandomisert, klinisk studie som sammenliknet effekten av Integrert Behandling med standard behandling i ni DPS. Fem DPS ble trukket til behandlingsgruppen og fire til kontrollgruppen. Gruppefordelingen var ikke blindet. Nyhenviste pasienter ble screenet for problematisk bruk av alkohol og andre rusmidler med Alcohol Use Identification Test (AUDIT) og Drug Use Identification Test (DUDIT). De som skåret over grensen for problematisk bruk ble intervjuet med diagnoseverktøyene SCID1 og 2. Pasienter som fikk påvist angst- og / eller depressiv lidelse sammen med ruslidelse ble inkludert i studien ved samtykke. Pasientene ble fulgt og undersøkt etter 6 og 12 måneder med henblikk på endring i rusbruk, psykiske symptomer og motivasjon for endring av rusbruk. Instrumentene som ble brukt til dette var AUDIT, DUDIT, den europeiske versjonen av Addiction Severity Index, Symptom Check-List 90r og Substance Abuse Treatment Scale. Femtifem pasienter ble inkludert til intervensjonsgruppen og 21 til kontrollgruppen. Vi brukte en lineær, hierarkisk modell til de statistiske analysene.

#### **Resultater:**

I følge vår første studie viste alle måleinstrumentene som ble brukt en lavere forekomst av ruslidelse blant pasientene enn det som var forventet fra andre studier. I tillegg var det dårlig samsvar mellom forekomstene målt med de ulike instrumentene. Da vi kombinerte disse instrumentene nærmet forekomsttallet seg det som var forventet. Videre viste studien at pasientene med ruslidelse oftere var menn, enslige og at de bodde alene. I tillegg hadde de alvorligere sykelighet, mindre forekomst av angst og stemningslidelser, mindre poliklinisk behandling og mindre grad av bedring fra psykologiske symptomer enn pasienter uten ruslidelse.

I følge vår andre studie, reduserte begge gruppene sitt alkohol- og rusbruk i løpet av undersøkelsen, men ingen av gruppene fikk noen endring i psykiske symptomer. Intervensjonsgruppen økte imidlertid sin motivasjon for å redusere sitt rusbruk i større grad enn kontrollgruppen. Det forekom ingen uheldige hendelser som følge av studien.

#### Konklusjon:

DPS'ene som deltok i vår første studie manglet diagnostiske rutiner for å fange opp ruslidelse hos pasientene sine. Kliniske studier som baserer seg på måleinstrumentene som ble brukt i denne studien må kombinere disse for å være sikre på å fange opp pasienter med problematisk rusbruk. Videre skiller pasienter med ruslidelse i psykiatriske poliklinikker seg fra de uten ruslidelse på områder som vil påvirke grad av sykelighet og behandlingsrespons. Dette betyr at DPS'ene må innføre rutiner for å fange opp disse pasientene slik at behandlingen blir tilpasset deres behov og behandlingsresponsen bedres. Både klinisk praksis og forskning vil nyte godt av å gjøre bruk av valide og pålitelige screeningmetoder og diagnostiske prosedyrer. Integrert behandling er effektiv i å øke motivasjonen for behandling hos polikliniske pasienter med angst og/ eller depresjon sammen med ruslidelse. Behandling av pasienter med sammensatte lidelser krever komplekse intervensjoner, men studier av komplekse intervensjoner og pasienter med sammensatte lidelser er krevende og metodisk utfordrende. For å utvikle effektive behandlingsformer for denne gruppen pasienter, er det likevel viktig at slike studier blir gjennomført. Vår studie viser at til tross for metodiske vanskeligheter, vil det med god planlegging være mulig å gjennomføre slike studier.

# List of papers

L

Wusthoff, L. E., Waal, H., Ruud, T., Roislien, J., & Grawe, R. W. Identifying co-occurring substance use disorders in community mental health centres. Tailored approaches are needed. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry. 2011, 65*(1), 58-64. doi: 10.3109/08039488.2010.489954. Epub 2010 May 28.

#### Ш

Wusthoff, L. E., Waal, H., Ruud, T., & Grawe, R. W. A cross-sectional study of patients with and without substance use disorders in Community Mental Health Centres. *BMC Psychiatry. 2011, 11*, 93. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-11-93.

Ш

Wusthoff, L. E., Waal, H., & Grawe, R. W. The effectiveness of Integrated Treatment in patients with substance use disorders co-occurring with anxiety and/or depression – a group randomized trial. *BMC Psychiatry. 2014, 14:67.* doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-14-67

#### IV

Wusthoff, L. E., Waal, H., & Grawe, R. W. When research meets reality - lessons learned from a pragmatic multisite group-randomized clinical trial on psychosocial interventions in the psychiatric and addiction field. *Substance Abuse: Research and Treatment. 2012, 6*, 95-106. doi: 10.4137/SART.S9245. Epub 2012.

# 1. Introduction - Context and terminology

## 1.1 Substance use disorders and mental disorders

There are two widely used classification systems for diagnoses; the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders (DSM) published by the American Psychiatric Association, and the International Classification of Diseases (ICD) published by the World Health Organization. While conducting our studies, the DSM-IV-text revision and the ICD-10 were the latest versions of these classification systems. In DSM-IV substance related disorders were categorized in two main categories; substance abuse and substance dependence, with each specific substance addressed as a separate substance related disorder (1). The distinction between abuse and dependence was based on the concept of abuse being a mild or early phase and dependence a more severe manifestation of the disorder, meaning that the former would have to precede the latter. However, it has been shown that this is not always the case. In ICD-10 a similar distinction is made between harmful use and dependence (2). Recently, an updated version of the DSM has been published; the DSM-V. In DSM-V the categories from DSM-IV, i.e. abuse and dependence, are combined into one single disorder measured on a continuum from mild to severe, i.e. a substance use disorder. In this definition, a milder form of substance use disorder does not have to precede a more severe form (3). In our studies, the term substance use disorder is referred to as abuse of or dependence on both alcohol and other substances.

The concept of mental disorders lacks a consistent operational definition to cover all situations. In the DSM-IV a mental disorder is defined as a clinically significant behavioural or psychological syndrome or pattern that is associated with present distress, disability or a significantly increased risk of suffering death, pain, or an important loss of freedom. Further, it must be a manifestation of a behavioural, psychological, or biological dysfunction, and not merely an expectable and culturally sanctioned response to a particular event. It should be a symptom of dysfunction in the individual and not only a deviant behaviour or conflict between the individual and the society (1, 4). Mental disorders are commonly divided into severe and less severe mental disorders. The term *severe mental disorder* refers to psychiatric disorders with a severe impact on the person's psychosocial functioning, like the ability to work, take care of one self, and maintain interpersonal relationships. Additionally, a severe mental disorder will often include psychotic symptoms such as hallucinations or delusions (5). The most common examples of such disorders are schizophrenia and bipolar disorders. *Less severe mental disorders* allude to psychiatric disorders with less impact on

1

psychosocial functioning and which do not include psychotic symptoms. The most common examples of such disorders are anxiety and mild to moderate depressive disorders, i.e. depression without psychotic symptoms. In our clinical trial we have included all subgroups of anxiety and mild to moderate depressive disorders.

## 1.2 Co-occurring mental and substance use disorders

Traditionally, the term "dual diagnosis" was used for the co-occurrence of severe mental disorders and substance use disorders (6, 7). However, "dual" refers to two co-occurring conditions, and in many instances there are more than two conditions co-occurring, e.g. one or more mental disorders together with one or more substance use disorders. Further, one can have co-occurring conditions other than mental disorders combined with substance use disorders, for example, hypertension, and diabetes. The term "dual diagnosis" is therefore not precise and by preference the term "cooccurring" is used, where one must specify which conditions co-occur in each case (6). The terms *cooccurring* and *comorbid* are used synonymously throughout our studies.

# 1.3 Aetiological theories on co-occurring mental and substance use disorders

There are different models which try to explain the high prevalence of co-occurring substance use disorders and mental disorders (5, 8-16). Many of these models concern the co-occurrence of severe mental disorders and substance use disorders. Merikangas et al (17, 18), propose *causal* and *shared aetiological* explanations. Similarly, a review of aetiological theories for the comorbidity between substance use disorders and severe mental disorders by Mueser et al (15) proposes four general models; *the common factor models, the secondary substance abuse disorder models, the secondary psychopathology models, and the bidirectional models*. Some of these models might also apply as aetiological explanations for the comorbidity of substance use disorders and substance use disorders. As our studies concern the co-occurrence of less severe mental disorders. Kushner et al (19) and Swendsen et al (20) have reviewed different models of aetiology for the co-occurrence of substance use disorders together with anxiety and depressive disorders, respectively.

*Causality models* are based on the presumption that one, primary, disorder precedes the other, secondary, disorder in time and that the *primary disorders*, in different ways, might cause the co-occurrence of the *secondary disorder* (21-23). There might also be a *bidirectional* causation, meaning that either disorder can increase the vulnerability to the other (15). The causal explanations might be distinguished as direct causality or indirect causality (24). *Direct causality* means that the secondary disorder might be elicited directly by the primary disorder, e.g. pharmacological effects of ethanol inducing depressive symptoms. *Indirect causality* means that the secondary disorder is caused by secondary effects of the primary disorder. An example would be the "self-medication hypothesis" (25-27), e.g. using alcohol to cope with anxiety symptoms. Additionally, there could be a development of risk factors for the comorbid disorder as a result of the primary disorder, e.g. job loss due to an alcohol use disorder could induce the onset of a depressive episode (28).

A review by Kushner et al (19) of the comorbidity of anxiety and alcohol use disorders found that the short-term anxiolytic effects of alcohol and the long-term anxiogenic effects of alcohol suggest that both anxiety disorders and alcohol use disorders can serve to initiate the other, especially in the case of alcohol dependence. Further, clinical studies suggest that: anxiety disorders can contribute to the maintenance of and relapse to alcohol abuse; that reducing anxiety symptoms improves the treatment outcome for an alcohol use disorder; and that ongoing panic and anxiety predict relapse to alcohol abuse. Altogether a vicious circle of increasing anxiety symptoms and alcohol use is produced and this promotes and sustains comorbidity (12, 19). Regarding the comorbidity of anxiety disorders and other drug use disorders, epidemiological studies support the finding that anxiety disorder precedes the substance use disorder in many cases (14, 29). Prospective studies suggest that the predictive value between anxiety and substance use disorders is bidirectional in adolescents and young adults (30, 31). There is no data to support a unilateral relationship between depression and substance use disorders. It seems that both disorders are risk factors for developing the other (28, 29).

The models of *shared aetiology* (17), also called *common factor models* (8, 15), suggest that one or more factors independently increase the risk of both the psychiatric illness and the substance use disorder. These factors could be genetic, non-biological environmental factors (e.g. disruptive family), prenatal environmental factors (e.g. maternal alcohol use), or biological environmental factors (e.g. lead-poisoning) (17).

3

If genetic or other familial factors were to be common contributory factors for comorbid mental and substance use disorders, one would expect relatives of people with substance use disorders to have a higher prevalence of mental disorders, and relatives of people with mental disorders to have higher prevalence of substance use disorders. Some studies suggest that there might be a causal relationship between anxiety and alcoholism as probands with either disorder alone have family members with increased risk of comorbidity (18, 32), but there does not seem to be a crosstransmission to support a common aetiology between anxiety disorders and alcoholism (19, 33). Prospective studies suggest that problems with either anxiety or alcohol use alone can promote the development of the other and that shyness and behavioural inhibition among boys in childhood predicts the development of alcohol abuse in adolescence and young adulthood (34, 35). Further, anxiety spectrum conditions in adults predict later development of alcohol use disorders (36). Regarding the comorbidity of depression and substance use disorders, twin studies provide weak support for a shared diathesis when it comes to the relationship between depression and alcoholism (28, 33, 37-39), but this is not supported by adoption studies (28, 40, 41). In addition, family studies show that substance use disorders in probands are associated with both substance use and depression among relatives (42) and that maternal depression is associated with both depression and substance use in offspring (28, 43).

### 1.4 Setting - Community Mental Health Centres

In 1996 the Norwegian government proposed a National Plan for Mental Health to strengthen the mental health services. The initial National Plan for Mental Health was put into action from 1999-2006 and later prolonged until 2008. It involved, among other actions, the development of community mental health centres throughout the country (44, 45). These centres provide decentralized specialist mental health services and are responsible for providing services for psychiatric emergencies, diagnostic assessments, and specialized psychiatric treatment, together with consultations and advice for collaborative service providers. They are meant to be a link between the centralized specialist health services (i.e. the hospitals) and the municipalities (46). The treatment services offered at each centre varies, but all of them have psychiatric outpatient clinics that offer individual therapy and some also provide additional group therapy. Many have a daypatient programme, and some offer short-term inpatient treatment for patients with chronic severe mental disorders (45). The evaluation of the National Plan for Mental Health showed that some patients did not receive sufficient treatment. This was especially true for patients with severe mental disorders in combination with substance use disorders, and this resulted in the development of

Assertive Community Teams. These teams are organized at the community mental health centres in close collaboration with the municipalities. The first Assertive Community Team was established in 2007, others followed from 2009 with government financing. In 2012 fourteen Assertive Community Teams were established throughout Norway (47). In 2004 the responsibility for addiction treatment was moved from the county authorities to the specialist health services as a result of the Addiction Treatment Reform ("Rusreformen") (48). This reform had many implications, for example, people seeking addiction treatment received patient rights according to Norwegian health legislation. Previously the specialist health services (including the psychiatric outpatient clinics at the community mental health centres) were responsible for treating patients where the mental disorder was the dominant need for treatment, e.g. patients with severe mental disorders co-occurring with substance use disorders. The county authorities were responsible for treating patients where the substance use disorder was the dominant need for treatment, e.g. patients with substance use disorder. As a consequence of the addiction treatment reform, the community mental health centres gradually developed addiction outpatient clinics in addition to their existing services.

In our studies, we have included patients from different community mental health centres throughout Norway. In our first study (papers I and II) we included patients from all the services at the community mental health centres, but as patients were predominantly receiving services from the psychiatric outpatient clinics, the terms *community mental health centres* and *psychiatric outpatient clinics* are used synonymously. In our second study (papers III and IV) we included patients from the psychiatric outpatient clinics only.

# 2. Background

# 2.1 The prevalence and characteristics of patients with co-occurring mental and substance use disorders

Since the early 1980s there has been mounting evidence of high prevalence of substance use disorders in the general population. The lifetime prevalence of any substance use disorder has been shown to range from 15% to 19% between studies (49-51) and that of alcohol abuse from 12% to 29% (29). Likewise, the twelve month prevalence of any substance use disorder ranges from 8% to 9% between studies, that for alcohol abuse or dependence ranges from 7% to 11% (50, 52-54), and the one month prevalence of any substance use disorders range between 4% and 6% (49, 50).

Epidemiological studies have also established high comorbidity between mental and substance use disorders (29, 49, 55-57), with the odds ratio for the 12 month occurrence of any substance use disorder with at least one mental disorder being 2.6 (55). In clinical populations this comorbidity is even more pronounced particularly among homeless groups (58) and in acute psychiatric wards where patients with psychotic disorders like schizophrenia are the main patient group (59, 60). The prevalence of patients with co-occurring severe mental disorders and substance use disorders in inpatient psychiatric settings varies considerably between studies, i.e. between 24-50% (59-61). This can be explained by several factors, such as, differences in the levels of substance use in the catchment area, admission policies at the wards or insufficient diagnostic practice (62). Studies have shown that diagnoses of substance use disorders are often missed in psychiatric patients (63-65). This underlines the importance of implementing good screening procedures to aid diagnostic assessments (65, 66).

When we started our study, much was known about the prevalence of patients with co-occurring severe mental illnesses and substance use disorders in psychiatric inpatient clinics. However, studies from outpatient clinics were scarce and to a large degree based on samples of patient with severe mental disorders (67). Less was known about the prevalence of co-occurring substance use disorders among patients with less severe mental disorders, like anxiety and depression, and whether their comorbidity was being detected and addressed.

6

From clinical studies it is evident that people with co-occurring mental and substance use disorders are more often men and less likely to be in a relationship or employed (62, 68-71), they have a low level of education, low socioeconomic status (62, 68, 71, 72) and have a higher level of mental distress (67, 70, 71). However, most of these studies are from patients in substance use treatment settings or from patients with severe mental disorders co-occurring with substance use disorders. Consequently, when we did our studies, less was known about the characteristics of patients with cooccurring mental and substance use disorders in general psychiatric outpatient clinics, for example, whether these patients differed from psychiatric outpatients without this comorbidity and if the community mental health centres differentiated their treatment accordingly.

## 2.2 Clinical course and treatment services

Comorbid mental and substance use disorders have long been known to be associated with poorer treatment effect resulting in poorer psychosocial functioning, a higher number of days in treatment, higher attrition from treatment, more admissions, and a higher burden for patients from both their mental and substance use disorders (73-79). Hence, this comorbidity complicates the recovery of mental health disorders and is associated with an increased use of health services (74, 80-83).

During the 1980's it became evident that existing treatment systems were a poor fit for these comorbid disorders as mental health and substance abuse services were provided in separate, parallel treatment systems. These systems had different treatment philosophies and little capacity for modifying treatment approaches or cooperating to individualize treatments. This complicated further recovery from these disorders (7). Treatment in these separate systems was commonly provided either in a sequential or parallel manner. Sequential treatment means that the patient is first treated for one condition at the corresponding service (e.g. treatment for a mental disorder at a psychiatric clinic) and is then treated for the other condition at the other treatment service (e.g. treatment for a substance use disorder at an addiction treatment service). There are several disadvantages to this approach: the untreated disorder might worsen the other, resulting in a disagreement about which disorder should be treated first, leaving the patient "ping-ponging" between services. It may also be unclear when one disorder has been treated sufficiently for the patient to receive treatment for the other disorder. There also is a risk that the patient is not referred for the other treatment (5). Parallel treatment means that the patient is treated for both the mental disorder and the substance use disorder at the same time but at different treatment sites. This can be a fruitful approach if the therapists at the different sites collaborate and the treatments are well

coordinated. However, the parallel treatment approach has often been shown to be problematic. Therapists may come from different theoretical backgrounds and provide different views on how to understand and treat the conditions. Consequently, the treatments are often poorly coordinated and, ultimately, it is up to the patient to integrate the different approaches for his/her conditions. In addition, in most cases it is difficult for services to be offered from two sites at the same time (5, 7).

To overcome these difficulties, approaches to integrate the treatments and services for patients with co-occurring mental and substance use disorders were developed during the late 1980s (7, 84, 85). The primary target group for this integrated approach was the hard-to-reach patients with severe mental disorders, like schizophrenia, and co-occurring substance use disorders. These patients were difficult to reach, usually dropped out of treatment, and had a high degree of psychosocial impairment including the ability to work, taking care of oneself, and maintaining interpersonal relationships. Many such individuals also lack a place to live and monetary income. Consequently, a large range of services is needed, e.g. somatic and psychiatric health services and social services (5). Hence, integration of services is needed on many levels; the organizational level, the treatment level, and the therapist level (5).

Knowledge about this area has grown steadily since the 1980s and the Addiction Treatment Reform was established in Norway in 2004. However, when we started our studies in 2007, treatment services for mental and substance use disorders in Norway were still predominantly divided in two parallel streams, and outreach teams for hard-to-reach patients with co-occurring severe mental and substance use disorders were still considered to be pioneering (86). Even today, ten years after the Addiction Treatment Reform, many of the services for mental health and addiction still operate in parallel systems with different philosophies and traditions that make collaboration around patients with co-occurring mental and substance use disorders difficult. In an attempt to address these problems, the Norwegian Directorate of Health, published new guidelines for treating patients with co-occurring mental and substance use disorders in 2012 that advocate closer collaboration and integration of treatment and services (87)

#### 2.3 Integrated treatment

As described above, means to integrate the treatments and services for patients with co-occurring mental and substance use disorders were developed during the late 1980s (7, 84, 85), and clinical guidelines were later described by Minkoff (88). This *integrated treatment* has over the years

become part of treatment recommendations for patients with co-occurring severe mental and substance use disorders in several countries (87, 89, 90). Mueser et al (5) describe this integration of treatment and services as follows.

Firstly, there needs to be an integration of services, i.e. the patient needs to be offered treatment for both the mental and substance use disorders simultaneously from the same therapist or group of therapists within the same organization. Secondly, the services need to be comprehensive, i.e. a wide array of service providers needs to cooperate to avoid gaps in the services delivered. Thirdly, the services need to be *assertive* and flexible in order to reach patients who are not able to keep to specific appointments. Further, it is important to reduce negative consequences of the disorders, i.e. "harm-reduction", to make sure the patient lives long enough to gain the benefits from treatment; e.g. clean needles and syringes and vaccination against hepatitis A and B. As these conditions are often long-term, it is also important to have a *long-term perspective* on the treatment and services given, i.e. time-unlimited services, to avoid artificial constraints that would prematurely terminate treatment. Further, these conditions are highly dependent on the patient's ability and willingness to change his or her behaviour so the treatment needs to be *motivation based*, i.e. engaging the patient in his / her treatment, and eliciting their own motivation for change. For the same reason, the treatment should be adapted to the person's stage of change (91-93) and tailored to the specific needs of the individual (94). Finally, as this condition is highly complex, a broad array of therapeutic tools will be needed, i.e. multiple psychotherapeutic modalities, e.g. individual therapy, group therapy, family therapy and so forth (5, 7). Commonly used psychotherapeutic modalities are motivational interviewing (95-97) and cognitive behavioural therapy (5, 98). The combination of these modalities has also shown to be effective (99, 100).

Over the years, several studies have been published about the effectiveness of integrated treatment for people with severe mental disorders co-occurring with substance use disorders (101-110). Although individual studies show promising results, systematic reviews pooling the results have not been able to replicate these findings (99, 111-114). These reviews conclude that the heterogeneity in treatment modalities, sample characteristics and diagnostic features make pooling of effect-sizes difficult. However, one recent review concludes that, despite this heterogeneity, the integration of several treatment modalities is more effective than approaches with single treatment modalities (114). This heterogeneity among studies clearly shows that integrated treatment is not one form of treatment. Over the years, several models of integrated treatment have been developed (115). Although these treatment models differ in several ways, they share a common set of principles which are listed by Mueser and Gingerich as follows: "taking a low-stress and harm-reduction approach, motivation-based treatment (including a stage-wise approach), use of cognitive-behavioural treatment strategies, supporting functional recovery, and engaging the individual's social network" (115).

During recent years, different models of integrated treatment have also been developed to address a broader spectrum of comorbid illnesses including less severe mental disorders co-occurring with substance use disorders. It has become evident that comorbidity of different combinations of substance use and mental disorders need different combinations of treatment approaches (16, 116). Some studies suggest that different sequencing of the treatment modalities and thematic focus within the integrated treatment approach is of importance for different combinations of mental and substance use disorders (117, 118). Rohde et al (117) evaluated three methods of integrating interventions for depression and substance use disorders amongst adolescents. The intervention for depression was a cognitive behavioural group intervention (Adolescent Coping with Depression course) and the intervention for the substance use disorders was Functional Family Therapy. They found that intervening on the substance use disorder first had better outcomes on substance use for most of the patients. However, for patients with a major depressive disorder at baseline, intervening on depression first had better outcome on substance use disorders. Depressive symptoms decreased significantly in all treatment groups. Gender differences might also influence which disorder should be addressed first. Baker et al (119) did a randomized controlled trial among patients with alcohol use problems and depression. The participants were divided into 4 groups. All groups received one brief intervention session with an integrated focus on depression and alcohol misuse. Three of the four groups received, in addition, nine sessions with either alcohol focus, depression focus or integrated focus. The integrated focus treatment was associated with greater reduction in drinking days and level of depression compared to the single-focus treatments (just alcohol or just depression). However, when gender was taken into account, the alcohol-focused treatment was associated with greater reduction in alcohol consumption and increased level of functioning in men. In women, the depression-focused treatment was associated with greater improvement on each of these variables. This might be explained by different aetiology of the comorbidity between genders (120, 121). Schuckit et al (122) found that among alcohol-dependent patients there was a preponderance of alcohol-induced depression in men and that independent depression was most likely found in women. These findings suggest that treatment should be tailored according to gender (116).

10

When we started planning our treatment study in 2005/06 and initiated it in 2007, many studies had investigated the effectiveness of integrated treatment for patients with severe mental illness and substance use disorders. However, the literature was very scarce when it came to integrated treatment for people with less severe mental disorders, like anxiety and depression, and substance use disorders. In 2008, Morten Hesse carried out a systematic review of the literature on integrated psychosocial interventions for people with anxiety and/or depression co-occurring with substance use disorders and found ten studies from different treatment settings (123). Five of these were studies on psychosocial interventions for depressive disorders co-occurring with substance use disorders (124-128) and five were studies on psychosocial interventions, control conditions, and outcome measures, so comparing their effect sizes was difficult. Consequently, when we started our clinical trial in 2007, little was known about the effects of integrated treatment for patients with substance use disorders, i.e. anxiety and depressive disorders, co-occurring with substance use disorders in psychiatric outpatient clinics where these conditions are more prominent.

## 2.4 Methodological issues in treatment research

To address the treatment issues mentioned above, research on effective and evidence-based treatment approaches for this group of patients is vital, and should be based on rigorous and valid research methods (134, 135). The randomized controlled trial (RCT) is considered to be the best research design to compare different treatment approaches because of its ability to maximize internal validity and thereby enable studies to attribute differential outcomes to the experimental manipulation rather than other causes (134, 136). However, this strong internal validity comes at the expense of poorer external validity, which reduces the generalizability of the results to heterogeneous groups of patients and settings that are common in everyday clinical practice (137-139).

One of the prerequisites for establishing strong internal validity is a strict manualized treatment conducted by highly trained and specialized therapists. However, in everyday clinical practice, clinicians face a wide range of disorders that require an eclectic approach tailored to meet the differential needs of the individual patient. Additionally, the clinicians that provide these treatments, typically, come from different professional backgrounds with different experience and training (138-140).

Another feature of the RCT is the use of randomization to create groups which are equal with regard to known and unknown confounding factors. This, however, presupposes that the sample size is large enough compared to the number of variables (141). In many randomized clinical trials, difficulties in recruitment are common (142-145). Additionally, people with substance use disorders commonly have high rates of attrition from both treatment and clinical trials (146-148).

Blinding of patients, therapists and researchers to treatment allocation is another prerequisite of the RCT. However, in studies on complex psychosocial interventions, blinding is impossible, and patients might withdraw from the study if they are allocated to a less preferred treatment, which would pose a threat to the between-group equivalence (134, 149).

Consequently, studies involving patients with co-occurring mental and substance use disorders are challenging. This is mirrored by the fact that patients with comorbidity of substance use disorders are often excluded from clinical trials (137, 150, 151). However, if we are to develop tailored treatment approaches for this group of patients, valid research is vital and evaluation reports on projects based on these methodologies imperative.

# 3. Aims of the thesis

The overall aims were, firstly, to examine whether patients with comorbidities of mental disorders and substance use disorders were detected in psychiatric outpatient clinics and whether they differed from outpatients without substance use disorders (papers I and II). Secondly, the overall aims were to investigate whether integrated treatment, which has been shown to be effective for inpatients with both severe mental disorders and substance use disorders, is equally effective in outpatients with less severe mental disorders, such as anxiety and depression, and substance use disorders (papers III and IV).

#### Paper I

In this study, we examined whether common and well-known substance use measures are appropriate in detecting substance use disorders in community mental health centres. Our basic assumption was that the presence of substance use disorders in our sample should be on a level with previous findings from other outpatient populations, and that the reliability of the instruments should be confirmed by congruent findings between them.

#### Paper II

The aims of this paper were to compare patients in community mental health centres with and without substance use disorders regarding 1) differences in socio-demographic characteristics, 2) levels of morbidity, 3) the prevalence of different diagnostic categories, 4) differences in health services provided and 5) differences in the level of improvement in psychiatric symptoms.

#### Paper III

The aim of this study was to investigate the effectiveness of integrated treatment in patients with substance use disorders and less severe mental disorders regarding 1) the use of alcohol and other substances, 2) the severity of psychiatric symptoms, and 3) the client's motivation for changing his/her substance use behaviour.

13

### Paper IV

The aims of this methodology paper were, firstly, to discuss the methodological adaptations that may be required in clinical research on complex interventions in non-selected clinical populations; secondly, to describe how such adaptations created new challenges in a randomized clinical trial on integrated treatment. We also discuss how these challenges might be understood and highlight the lessons important for future research in this field.
# 4. Material and methods

# 4.1 Design and procedures

#### Papers I and II

In 2002, a study on the development of community mental health centres was designed for the Norwegian Research Council on behalf of the national health authorities as part of an evaluation of the National Plan for Mental Health (152). A cross-sectional design was used. The data was collected from eight Norwegian community mental health centres, with a total catchment area of about 450,000 inhabitants, which was about 10% of the Norwegian population at the time. The clinics were located in both urban and rural parts of the country to cover a representative sample of the Norwegian population. The data was collected during three separate 4-week periods in 2002, 2005 and 2007, and included information from clinicians, general practitioners, patients and their relatives. This study focused on the assessments performed by the clinicians in 2007. The clinicians comprised of psychiatrists, psychologists, psychiatric nurses, and clinical social workers. The clinicians were asked to complete standardized forms for all inpatients and outpatients seen within a specific 4-week period. The forms covered socio-demographic and clinical information.

#### Papers III and IV

This study was designed to investigate the effectiveness of integrated treatment among patients with anxiety and/or depression co-occurring with substance use disorders in psychiatric outpatient clinics of community mental health centres in Norway. The control condition was treatment as usual. Three to five therapists at each clinic in the intervention group received training in integrated treatment. The clinicians in the control group were promised teaching of the experimental intervention when the study was over.

To obtain external validity, we used a pragmatic RCT design. In order to acquire the calculated sample size, we included multiple centres in the study. Nine centres were included. They were located in the southern, eastern, and central Norwegian Regional Health Trusts. As contamination of knowledge between therapists and patients between groups was an obvious risk, the randomization was at centre level. The centres were randomized by draw and stratified with respect to urban or rural catchment areas. Five centres were drawn to the intervention group and four centres to the control group. Blinding was judged to be impossible, so the allocation to treatment condition was

open at inclusion. In order to secure inclusion, treatment fidelity, protocol adherence, and data quality, we trained and paid one therapist at each centre in a 10% position as a local trial administrator.

All new referrals to the psychiatric outpatient clinics of the centres during the inclusion period were to be screened by the therapists appointed to the patients. New referrals could include patients with a previous treatment history at the centre. Those who scored above the cut-off levels of the screening instruments associated with abuse or dependence were subsequently referred to the local trial administrator to assess eligibility. Patients who fulfilled the inclusion criteria (without fulfilling any exclusion criteria) and consented to participate in the study were included. The patients who were included were assessed by the local trial administrators at baseline and 6 and 12 months of follow-up.

#### Sample size

As there were no published effect sizes available from studies comparing the effects of integrated treatment with treatment as usual at the time of we planned the study, we computed a within-group effect size based on changes from baseline to follow-up in the absence of a control group in a previous treatment study (153). The effect size in this study was modest (0.57), but with a 5% alpha level and 80% power, the minimum number to treat was 78 patients. With 90% power the number was 108 patients. As we expected between 20 and 30 percent dropout for this group of patients from treatment and assessments, we planned to include a total of 150 patients in the study (i.e. N = 75 in each group). Thus, each of the nine centres was expected to include between 15 and 20 patients.

# 4.2 Material

#### Papers I and II:

A total of 2154 patients were included in the study which is about half of all patients reported to the Norwegian Patient Register (NPR) from the eight community mental health centres in a similar period 2 months later (154). Data from the NPR gives a rough estimate of eligible patients as they present the number of patients registered at each clinic during the registration period and not the number of patients actually turning up for their appointment. The number of participants from each clinic varied from 42 to 409 (median 278), with corresponding participation rates varying from 20% to 83% according to the NPR. There was no information available on eligible patients not included in the study.

#### Papers III and IV

The inclusion criteria of our study were: new referrals, above 18 years of age, anxiety disorder, and/or depression with or without a personality disorder together with a disorder of abuse or dependence on drugs or alcohol. The exclusion criteria were: psychotic disorder (except episodic drug-induced psychosis), planning to move away from the catchment area during the 12 months duration of the trial, not able to speak or read Norwegian, disorder of abuse/dependence of benzodiazepines or nicotine as the only substance use disorder, and acute illness that required immediate treatment. Those who had an acute illness could be included in the trial after receiving treatment for that illness if they were referred back to the outpatient clinic for regular treatment during the inclusion period. Participants were included if they consented to participation and completed the baseline assessments. The initial inclusion period was from March to December 2007. Because of low inclusion rates, the inclusion period was extended until December 2008. A total of 76 patients (intervention group: 55, control group: 21) were included in the study.

## 4.3 Research instruments

#### Papers I and II

Demographic, administrative, and clinical information in addition to one primary and two secondary ICD-10 diagnoses (2) were recorded for each patient (152). The diagnoses were based on routine clinical assessments. No structured clinical interview was used to confirm diagnoses. The Health of the Nation Outcome Scales (HoNOS) (155, 156) were used to measure severity of psychosocial problems in 12 problem areas. The scale ranges from "no problem" (score 0) to "severe problem" (score 4). The alcohol and drug use were rated using the Alcohol Use Scale (AUS) (157, 158) and the Drug Use Scale (DUS) (158, 159), respectively. These scales range from "abstinence" (score 1) to "addiction with hospitalization" (score 5). Drug and alcohol use were measured in four ways: 1) on the basis of the first, second or third diagnoses (ICD-10 F10 – 19), 2) on the response to the HoNOS item three (HoNOS 3), 3) the AUS, and 4) the DUS.

Before the first two surveys in 2002 and 2005, the clinicians at the eight community mental health centres were trained in using the HoNOS, the AUS, and the DUS. Before each of the three surveys they had an optional practice on case vignettes. In 2002, intra-class correlation coefficients (ICC) for the HoNOS were calculated and ranged from 0.60 to 0.89 for the subscales (T. Ruud, personal communication). These coefficients were considered acceptable (160, 161).

#### Substance use measures

In paper I, we established a combined measure of the different ways of assessing the use of alcohol and drugs to be able to cover all patients in the material with a problematic use of substances and to estimate the prevalence of substance use disorders in this material. The *substance use disorder group* was defined as having fulfilled one or more of the following criteria: 1) a diagnosis of substance related disorder, ICD-10 F10– 19 (first, second or third diagnosis); 2) a high degree of alcohol or drug use (HoNOS 3, scores 2 – 4); 3) a high degree of alcohol use (AUS, scores 3 – 5); or 4) a high degree of drug use (DUS, scores 3 – 5). The *No substance use disorder group* was defined by not fulfilling any of the above criteria.

In paper II, we used the combined measure mentioned above as a grouping variable to investigate whether the patients with substance use disorders differed from the patients with no substance use disorders in regard to socio-demographic variables, the level of morbidity, the prevalence of diagnostic categories, the health services provided and the level of improvement from psychiatric symptoms.

#### Socio-demographic variables

The socio-demographic variables consisted of age, gender, paid work, in a relationship, living alone and ethnicity.

#### Variables regarding the level of morbidity

The variables used to investigate the patients' level of morbidity were the HoNOS, except the substance use item as this was used as one of the *substance use disorder group* defining criteria. We categorized the HoNOS scores into two groups: 1) no clinically relevant problem (scores 0-1) and 2) clinically relevant problem (scores 2-4).

#### Variables regarding the prevalence of different diagnostic categories

The ICD-10 diagnoses were grouped into psychotic disorders (F20-29), mood disorders (F30-39), anxiety disorders (F40-49), personality disorders (F60-69) and other psychiatric disorders (F50-59, F70-99)

#### Variables regarding the health services provided

The variables used to investigate the health services provided were 1) *psychiatric healthcare received during the last 12 months* and 2) *additional questions about the services in total* (152). The original 6 items of the first variable were categorized into 3 groups; "outpatient or day service at the community mental health centre", "inpatient service at the community mental health centre", "inpatient service at the community mental health centre or hospital" and "outpatient or inpatient addiction treatment". The original three scoring categories of these items were dichotomized into two categories (not received/received). The items of the latter variable were "is the patient being treated at the right level of competence", "are the services sufficiently comprehensive", "are the most important needs of the patient met", "are several services cooperating in making an "Individual Plan" for the patient", and "is the patient also being treated in a psychiatric hospital". These variables were scored "yes/no". An "Individual Plan" means a tailored, comprehensive treatment plan that all patients with a chronic disease are entitled to have according to Norwegian law.

#### Variables regarding the level of improvement from psychiatric symptoms

The variables regarding the level of improvement were scored on a 7-point scale (152). The items of this scale were grouped into two groups: 1) worse / no change and 2) better. The scoring was based on the clinicians' subjective evaluation of the patients' improvement on the day of the survey, regardless of their length of treatment.

#### Papers III and IV:

The screening instruments used were the Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test (AUDIT) (162) and the Drug Use Disorder Identification Test (DUDIT) (163). The cut offs for the AUDIT were set to 6 for women and 8 for men (164). The cut offs for the DUDIT were set to 2 for women and 6 for men (163).

For included patients, the measurements with the AUDIT and the DUDIT were repeated at 6 and 12 months of follow-up. To be able to measure change in substance use during the 12 months of follow-up, the instructions for the AUDIT and the DUDIT were altered to cover substance use during the last 6 months instead of the original "last 12 months".

The diagnostic inclusion criteria were assessed with the Structured Clinical Interview for the DSM-IV diagnoses, i.e. the SCID I (165) and the SCID II (166). Further, the European Addiction Severity Index (EuropASI), chapter E (167-169), the Symptom Check List 90 (SCL-90R) (170-172), and the Substance Abuse Treatment Scale (SATS-r) (173) were used for assessments at baseline, and 6 and 12 months of follow-up.

#### Outcome measures

The change in the use of substances (alcohol and illegal drugs) during the last six months was examined with the AUDIT and the DUDIT. The change in the use of substances during the last 30 days was investigated with the EuropASI. The EuropASI items regarding substance use were coded into two main variables: *ASI-Alcohol* (i.e. the number of days using alcohol during the last 30 days) and *ASI-Illegal substances* (i.e. the number of days using any illegal substances during the last 30 days). To examine the change in psychiatric symptoms with regard to anxiety and depression, we used the sum scores of the SCL-90R anxiety, depression, and general severity indexes. To examine whether the patient's motivation for changing substance use behaviours changed during the trial, we used the SATS-r. The outcome measures were examined on the individual level.

The local trial administrators had 3 days of training in how to run the project and in using the evaluation instruments including the SCID and the Addiction Severity Index (EuropASI), chapter E. The training on the research instruments consisted of lectures, clinical examples and practising on case vignettes. Their scoring of case-vignettes with the EuropASI, chapter E, was evaluated by a certified teacher.

The validity and reliability of the research instruments used in both studies are discussed in chapter 6.

20

# 4.4 Interventions

#### Papers III and IV

The patients in the intervention group received integrated treatment for both their psychiatric disorder and their substance use disorder. The integrated treatment consisted of the treatment modalities cognitive behavioural therapy and motivational interviewing. In addition, the therapists were to involve the patient's family and have a more active attitude towards the patient in regard to getting the patient into treatment and continuing treatment, for example, by calling or visiting the patient on "no show". The services should also be comprehensive, i.e. directed at a broad array of areas of functioning that are frequently impaired in clients with co-occurring mental and substance use disorders such as housing, vocational functioning, ability to manage the psychiatric illness and family and social relationships (5). The treatment was not manualized although a descriptive treatment guide was provided.

In the control group, the patients received treatment as usual. Treatment as usual is a difficult term to define as it depends greatly on the preference, skills, knowledge, and resources of the therapists delivering it (138). Commonly, the treatment methods used in community mental health centres include psychodynamic and cognitive therapies used with an eclectic approach tailored to meet the needs of the individual patient. However, traditionally the treatments given at psychiatric outpatient clinics have focused on the psychiatric disorders, and given little attention to the substance use disorder.

In both groups the therapists were expected to provide evidence-based treatment for the psychiatric disorder of the patient, including psychopharmacological treatment. The use of such medications was therefore not a focus of the study.

The specific background and work experience of the therapists in this study was not recorded. Generally, the therapists at community mental health centres come from different backgrounds; psychologists and medical doctors in addition to nurses and social workers specialising in psychotherapy. In the intervention group, three to five therapists at each centre and their local trial administrators received training in integrated treatment. This consisted of 35 hours of training in motivational interviewing, cognitive behavioural therapy, involving families, and advice on pharmacological treatment. The training was repeated after 6 and 12 months. The local trial administrators and therapists were encouraged to have regular peer-group meetings at their centre. The investigators had regular contact with the local trial administrators by phone, e-mails, and visits to the centres.

## 4.5 Statistical analyses

#### Paper I

We examined the agreement between the different substance use measures by cross-tabulation. The scores of the AUS and the DUS were combined for the analyses.

To examine whether the merged data differed substantially from the data from each clinic, we repeated the analyses for each clinic separately. To examine whether the results differed between 2007 and 2002 when the clinicians had had extensive training in the use of the instruments prior to the study, we repeated the analyses for the 2002 data for comparison.

#### Paper II

When comparing two groups the Student's t-test was used for continuous variables and the Pearson's chi-square test was used for categorical variables. The AUS and the DUS were combined for the analyses.

We performed logistic regression analyses to select the adjustment variables. An  $\alpha$ -level of 0.05 was chosen when deciding which adjustment variables to include. We included the following variables for the adjusted analyses; *age, gender, in relationship, overactive, aggressive, disruptive or agitated behaviour (HoNOS item 1), non-accidental self-injury (HoNOS item 2)* and *problems with activities of daily living (HoNOS item 10)*. We also adjusted for the interaction between *age* and *problems with activities of daily living.* To avoid Type I statistical error due to the number of tests we did Bonferroni correction of the  $\alpha$ -level for the main analyses. To adjust for nesting within the centres in the adjusted analyses we performed Generalized Estimating Equations analyses (GEE) with exchangeable working correlation and robust variance estimation. These only gave minor changes in the results compared to the regression analyses. The analyses were performed using SPSS version 18.0 (174).

#### Paper III

When comparing the background variables of the two groups the Student's t-test was used for normally distributed continuous variables and the Mann-Whitney-U test was used for skewed continuous variables. The Pearson's chi-square test was used for categorical variables. In cases where one or more cells had an expected count less than five, the Fisher's Exact test was used.

To examine whether there were differences between the two groups with regard to treatment response, we used a linear multilevel model where the different response variables were modelled as a function of group and time and adjusted for covariates. The clustering in the data was taken care of by a random intercept at patient level and at centre level. The primary target of analysis was the interaction between group and time, as this indicates the different treatment responses between groups during the course of the trial. We ran both intention to treat and completers analyses.

The intention to treat analyses were adjusted for *age* and *gender* in addition to the following variables: *living alone, having his/her own apartment* and *having compulsory school only,* as these variables showed a statistically significant difference or at least a 10 per cent point difference between groups at baseline. We continued with completers analyses in the same way and adjusted these for *age* and *gender* in addition to the following variables: *being in a relationship, having his/her own apartment, having paid work* and *having compulsory school only or senior high school* as these variables showed a statistically significant difference or at least a 10 per cent point difference between the completer groups at baseline. Completers were defined as having received at least five sessions and having met for at least one follow-up interview.

The residuals were normally distributed for all response variables except for the DUDIT and the ASI variable for illegal substances. The analyses were performed using SPSS version 20.0 (175)

## 4.6 Ethical aspects

#### Papers I and II

The study was approved by the Norwegian Data Inspectorate and the Norwegian Regional Ethics Committee. As this study was a cross-sectional study and did not depend on the time and efforts contributed by the patients, the study was not ethically problematic to conduct. On the other hand, the therapists needed to spend some extra time and effort to complete the assessment forms needed in the study. However, the content of these forms was clinically relevant and not too timeconsuming, so the cost-effectiveness of the study procedures should be justifiable.

#### Papers III and IV

There was a complete discussion of the study with potential participants and written informed consent was obtained after this discussion. The study was approved and monitored by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics in Norway (REC-East). This approval is in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Clinical trials, commonly, encounter problems in recruitment, follow-up, and adherence, which may reduce power and the probability of demonstrating an effect (type 2 statistical error). This is ethically problematic because one risks wasting financial and human resources. The Medical Ethics Committees therefore assess how realistic each project plan is prior to approval. When researchers encounter such challenges during the course of the trial they are faced with the choice of aborting the study or reinforcing the measures. To be able to make these choices at the appropriate time, researchers need to create strategies on how to handle such difficulties in advance and need to monitor the project continuously. We chose to reinforce the measures by training additional therapists, extending the inclusion period and providing monetary incentives. The latter two reinforcement strategies necessitated additional approval from the Regional Ethics Committee. In either case, whether the researchers choose to abort the study or to reinforce the measures, the researchers have an ethical obligation to report these challenges in a way that prevents other researchers from encountering the same problems.

# 5. Results

# 5.1 Identifying co-occurring substance use disorders in community mental health centres. Tailored approaches are needed. (Paper I)

The four instruments that were used to measure the prevalence of substance use in this material all revealed frequencies of substance use disorders on a level with that expected from the general population when used separately and a prevalence closer to that expected in a patient population when combined.

Furthermore, the observed agreement between the four measures was low. About 40 % of the patients who were given a diagnosis of substance use disorders, had a low score on the AUS and/or the DUS, and almost half of those who gained a high score on the AUS/DUS were not given a diagnosis of substance use disorder. Similarly, about 40 % of the patients given a substance use disorder diagnosis achieved a low score on the HoNOS 3, and almost half of those with a high score on the HoNOS 3, were not given a diagnosis of substance use disorder. Additionally, one in five had a high score on the AUS/DUS but a low score on the HoNOS 3, and almost one in four had a high score on the HoNOS 3 and a low score on the AUS/DUS.

All the analyses were repeated on the 2002 data with similar results.

# 5.2 A cross-sectional study of patients with and without substance use disorders in community mental health centres. (Paper II)

The mean age of the patients was 39 years with no statistically significant difference between the two groups. The patients in the substance use disorders group were more often male, less often in a relationship and more often living alone compared to the 'no substance use disorder' group. Even though these differences were statistically significant, the effect sizes were quite small (176).

We examined if the severity of morbidity as measured by the HoNOS predicted being a substance use disorder patient. We found that the substance use disorders group had significantly more problems with "overactive, aggressive, disruptive or agitated behaviour", "non-accidental self-injury",

"problems with relationships", "problems with activities of daily living" and "problems with occupation and activities".

Regarding comorbidity, 73 % of the patients in the substance use disorder group received diagnoses of somatic or psychiatric disorders in addition to substance use disorders. However, having a mood disorder or having an anxiety disorder was more common amongst the patients in the 'no substance use disorder' group.

We examined if receiving certain health services predicted being a substance use disorder patient. We found that receiving outpatient or day service at the community mental health centres was less common amongst the substance use disorder patients. Receiving outpatient or inpatient addiction treatment was, not surprisingly, more common among the substance use disorders patients. In addition, these patients more often received treatment at too low a competence level according to the therapists.

We examined if the degree of recovery predicted being a substance use disorder patient. We found that having no change or getting worse in regard to "psychological problems" was more common among substance use disorder patients. Having "psychiatric problems", "problems with social functioning", and "problems with practical functioning" was also more common amongst substance use disorder patients, but changed to a borderline significant level after adjustment.

# 5.3 The effectiveness of integrated treatment in patients with substance use disorders co-occurring with anxiety and/or depression – a group randomized trial. (Paper III)

#### Baseline demographics

There was a statistically significant difference in age between the groups; otherwise, there were no differences between the groups at baseline. About half the patients were male and had paid work. The majority of patients were not in a relationship, were living with someone, and had completed compulsory education or senior high school only. Regarding their diagnoses, the majority of patients

had an alcohol use disorder and about half the patients had a personality disorder in addition to their mood and/or anxiety disorder.

Looking at the baseline demographics and clinical characteristics amongst the completers, there was a statistically significant difference between groups in regard to *other mental illness* (intervention group: 1/39, control group: 4/17).

Comparing completers to non-completers, we found that there were no differences between them with regard to the amount of substances used or the severity of psychiatric symptoms at intake as measured by the outcome measures at baseline. Nor was there any significant difference in the number of completers between groups.

#### Summary of the results

Regarding the intention to treat analyses, both groups reduced their use of alcohol and illegal substances during the 12-month course of the trial, as measured with the AUDIT, the DUDIT, and the EuropASI, but the intervention group did not improve significantly more than the control group.

There were no statistically significant changes from baseline in psychiatric symptoms as measured by the SCL-90r, during the course of the trial in either group.

The intervention group had a greater increase in motivation for substance abuse treatment during the 12-month course of the trial than the control group.

The completer analyses showed similar results as the intention to treat analyses on all parameters.

#### Adverse events

There were no adverse events related to this project. However, one patient included in the intervention group was assessed as having a severe substance use disorder and was therefore referred to a private addiction treatment centre after receiving 3 sessions at the community mental health centre. He died about 8 months later of an overdose at the private addiction treatment centre between the 6 and 12-month follow-up interviews. He was included in the intention to treat analyses and regarded as missing at 12 months.

# 5.4 When research meets reality: lessons learned from a pragmatic multisite group-randomized clinical trial on psychosocial interventions in the psychiatric and addiction field. (Paper IV)

#### Flow of centres and participants and protocol deviations

Thirty-five community mental health centres from 3 out of 5 Regional Health Trusts were invited and 10 centres agreed to participate in the study. One of these centres withdrew just before randomization, leaving us with a total of nine centres. Two months into the project, one of the centres in the control group resigned. Another centre in the control group did not manage to include any patients during the time span of the trial, leaving five centres in the intervention group and two centres in the control group.

Thirty-five per cent of the new referrals were screened. Eighteen per cent of the screened patients scored above the cut-off level of the screening instruments, and 31 % of these patients were referred to the local trial administrator for the baseline evaluation. Seventy-six patients, 55 in the intervention group and 21 in the control group were enrolled.

The recruiting period was initially from April until December 2007 but was extended until December 2008. The follow-up period continued one year after inclusion. After inclusion, 16 patients in the intervention group and 4 patients in the control group received fewer than 5 sessions and/or never returned for follow-up interviews. This left 56 completers (control group: 17, intervention group: 39).

# 6. Discussion of the methodology

According to Shadish, Cook, and Campbell, the term validity refers to the approximate truth of an inference (136) (p. 34). In 1957, Campbell was the first to define two types of validity; internal and external (136, 177). Cook and Campbell elaborated this typology into four related categories; statistical conclusion validity, internal validity, construct validity and external validity (178). Following their lead, Shadish et. al. define these categories as follows.

*Statistical conclusion validity* refers to the appropriate use of statistics to infer whether the presumed independent and dependent variables covary (type 1 statistical error) and how strongly they covary (type 2 statistical error) and, thus, also considers the role of effect sizes in experiments (136).

Depending on the former, *internal validity*, also called *local molar causal validity* (179), refers to inferences about whether the observed co-variation between A and B reflects a causal relationship from A to B. This presupposes that A precedes B in time, that A co-varies with B (i.e. statistical conclusion validity), and that no other explanations for the relationship are plausible (136).

*Construct validity* refers to making inferences from the sampling particulars of a study (i.e. the observed persons, settings, cause and effect operations) to the higher order constructs they represent. It represents a twin problem; understanding constructs and assessing them. The naming of things, i.e. making constructs, is a key problem in all science, for names reflect category memberships that themselves have implications about relationships to other concepts, theories, and uses (social, political, economic, etc.) (136). Many studies use structured interviews, questionnaires and assessment forms that have been translated from one language (primarily English) to another. In addition to a linguistic translation, such research instruments need to be cross-culturally adapted to reflect what they are supposed to measure (180).

*External validity* is about whether inferences from the causal relationship hold over variations in persons (units), settings, treatment variables, and measurement variables. Both construct and external validity refer to generalizations. The former refers to generalizations from operations to constructs and the latter refers to generalizations from samples of persons, settings, and times achieved in a study to and across other relevant populations (136).

In the following sections, I will discuss possible threats to each type of validity in our studies, how we might have overcome them, and how these threats might affect the conclusions that can be drawn from our studies. Our first study (papers I and II) has a cross-sectional design and cannot infer causal relationships, thus, the question of internal validity will not apply.

# 6.1 Discussion of the methodology of study 1 (papers I and II)

#### 6.1.1 Statistical conclusion validity

#### Proper use of statistical tests

All the continuous variables had normal distribution, which justifies the use of the Student's t-test. As the outcome variable was dichotomous, we performed logistic regression analyses to investigate the relationship between the outcome and explanatory variables (paper II). As we included patients from different centres, one might expect nesting within each centre which could result in over- or underestimating effect sizes. To adjust for nesting, we performed Generalized Estimation Equation analyses (paper II).

#### Fishing related problems

This study was part of an evaluation of the National Plan for Mental Health and adapted to our study aims. As we conducted a large number of tests there is a probability of artificially inflating statistical significance. To minimize this problem, we only tested variables that were in accordance with the pre-test hypotheses that we wanted to investigate. In addition, we did Bonferroni correction of the  $\alpha$ -level to avoid Type I statistical error (181). Further, we added confidence intervals to the effect sizes as this gives more information about the actual size of the effects. For the same reason, we reported exact p-values instead of describing the results dichotomously; i.e. as significant or nonsignificant.

#### Reliability of measures

Reliability of measures concerns issues like the number of measurements (more items or more raters) and the quality of measurements (better items and better training of raters, i.e. inter-rater reliability). If either variable is measured unreliably, a conclusion about co-variation may be inaccurate (136).

In our study, the prevalence of substance use disorders was measured by a composite adapted approach based on the AUS, the DUS, the HoNOS, and the ICD-10 diagnoses.

The AUS and the DUS have proved strong inter-rater reliability (158). We did not assess the interrater reliability amongst raters in our study. However, the instruments consist of straightforward lists of criteria that correspond to the DSM, and, hence, should be easy to interpret consistently between raters. On the other hand, the reliability of the instruments relies on how well the clinicians know their patients and use all available information related to the issue (158). The clinicians were instructed to do so, and we have no information they did otherwise.

The HoNOS have also proved good inter-rater reliability (155). The inter-rater reliability of the Norwegian translation used in our study was assessed prior to the survey in 2002 and ranged between acceptable and good between subscales (ICC ranging from 0.60 - 0.89) (160, 161).

We did not assess the inter-rater reliability prior to our survey in 2007. However, we found no significant differences when we compared the results from 2007 with the results from 2002 with regard to the prevalence of substance use disorders obtained with the AUS, the DUS, and the HoNOS.

We had a large number of raters (and patients), so, if there were errors in the scoring of these variables, given that these errors were random, one would expect the impact of these errors to be small (i.e. random error of measurements).

#### Restriction of range

We chose to dichotomize several of our continuous outcome variables, which would restrict the range and lower power. However, we found it important to do so to ensure that the differences we might find would be clinically relevant. Otherwise, because of the large sample size, we would get statistically significant differences on the outcome measures between groups that were not relevant from a clinical point of view.

#### 6.1.2 Construct validity

#### Inadequate explication of constructs

The AUS and the DUS are five point scales based on the DSM-III assessing the severity of substance use disorders. The clinicians are supposed to use all available data (patient journals, collateral information, patient interview, and so forth) to establish the ratings. These instruments obtained good validity when compared to consensus-based diagnoses of substance use disorders (157, 158, 182). In our study, we used Norwegian versions of these instruments, translated for the purpose of the TIPS-project (Early Identification and Treatment of Schizophrenia) (183) by psychiatrist E. P. Ellefsen. The Norwegian translation was translated back to English by a project co-worker and the result discussed within the research group who approved the translation (personal communication from the project leader at the time, Professor I. Melle). The reliability and the validity of the Norwegian translations have not been assessed.

The HoNOS consist of 12 items covering broad psychosocial areas. This instrument has proved good validity compared to longer and well-established instruments (155). We used a Norwegian version of the HoNOS, which was translated by psychiatrist T. Ruud and approved by the Royal College of Psychiatrists Research Unit in London. The reliability and the validity of the Norwegian translation have not been assessed.

The diagnoses were set by the clinicians according to the ICD-10. No structured diagnostic interviews were used to assess diagnoses. This mirrors the reality in everyday clinical settings where structured diagnostic interviews are not commonly used (184). Poor agreement between diagnoses based on clinical assessments and those based on structured clinical interviews has been shown in several studies (185-188). In addition, our clinicians had different professional backgrounds and experience, so the validity of the diagnoses set could be questioned. This is why we only used main diagnostic categories when we analysed the data. Several studies have shown that substance use disorders are often missed in clinical settings without a structured clinical interview (63, 189). The findings of our first paper confirm this as we found several discrepancies between the prevalence of substance use disorders when assessed using the different measures (the AUS/DUS, the HoNOS item 3, and the ICD-10 F10-19).

To investigate the health care received, we used assessment forms that were made by the research group. These questions were simple lists of what health care the patient had or had not received, so

there was no need to assess psychometric properties of these variables. The words used in the variables corresponded to the actual nomenclature used (e.g. inpatient, outpatient, individual plan etc.), so the validity of the constructs should be good. Further, the validity relies on the extent to which the clinician has been thorough in finding the information to put into the form.

To assess the level of improvement in psychosocial symptoms we also used assessment forms made by the research group. The scoring was based on the clinicians' subjective evaluation of the patients' improvement on the day of the survey, regardless of length of treatment. Psychometric properties or other means of construct validity were not assessed. Item 1 in this questionnaire is called "level of improvement since the day of intake from psychiatric symptoms" and item 2 is called "level of improvement since the day of intake from psychological symptoms". One might ask what the difference is between these two questions, which received approximately the same scores.

#### Construct confounding and mono-operation bias

In an experiment the operations are rarely pure representations of constructs (136), which means that the researcher's definition of, for example, a grouping variable might be incorrect (i.e. construct confounding). Many experiments use only one operationalization of each construct, which might underrepresent constructs, contain irrelevancies and lower construct validity (i.e. mono-operation bias) (136).

In our study we wanted to compare patients, with and without substance use disorders, who were treated at community mental health centres. We found that no single operation / instrument could define these groups, so we used a combined measure of AUS/DUS, HoNOS item 3 and the ICD-10 diagnoses F10-19. In this way we believe that we managed to include most of the patients of interest.

33

#### 6.1.3 External validity

#### Interactions of the causal relationship with units and settings

External validity addresses whether the results from a study will be valid in another population and setting (e.g. rural or urban) than the one that was studied. In our study, we intended to include all patients (i.e. units) at the involved centres during a specific four-week period. The centres (i.e. settings) were chosen to represent both urban and rural parts of Norway and their total catchment area included about 10% of the Norwegian population at the time. These inclusion criteria were chosen to include a representative sample of patients at Norwegian community mental health centres, and, so the results should be valid for all patients at different community mental health centres in Norway. However, the total number of patients included in the study was only about half the eligible patients, varying between 20% and 83% between centres. There was no information available about the patients not included in the study. If the patients included in the study were selected in a systematically different way from those not included, it would bias our results. An example could be if the therapists only included patients with fewer or more "straight forward" problems, so as to lessen the work of completing the assessment forms. However, if patients were included randomly, it would not bias our results. An example of such a scenario would be if the therapists included patients whenever they were reminded or remembered to include patients for the study. We have no way of knowing how the selection was performed, so we do not know if our results are valid for patients and centres other than those that were studied.

#### 6.1.4 Limitations of the designs

Our first study has a cross-sectional design. This type of design is suitable for studying prevalence, associations, and risks, but as all data are collected at the same point in time, they cannot infer causation (190, 191). As we have only used this data to calculate prevalence and associations, these premises are not violated.

# 6.2 Discussion of the methodology of study 2 (papers III and IV)

#### 6.2.1 Statistical conclusion validity

#### Proper use of statistical tests

When comparing the background variables of the two groups the Student's t-test was used for normally distributed continuous variables and the Mann-Whitney-U test was used for skewed continuous variables. The Pearson's chi-square test was used for categorical variables. In cases where one or more cells had an expected count less than five, the Fisher's Exact test was used. The residuals were normally distributed for all response variables except for the DUDIT and the ASI variable for illegal substances. As the changes between groups regarding these outcome measures were not statistically significant, we did not perform additional analyses to account for this skewness. As we included patients from different centres, there is a risk of nesting within each centre which might result in an over- or underestimating of effect sizes. To adjust for nesting, we performed Generalized Linear Modelling analyses.

#### Low statistical power

In our study, a low inclusion rate together with high attrition led to low power, thereby making the study vulnerable to type 2 statistical error. We did many tests, all according to our pre-test hypotheses. Nevertheless, we chose not to do Bonferroni correction, as this would increase the risk of type 2 statistical error even further. Instead, we kept the  $\alpha$ -level at the standard 5% level.

#### Reliability of measures

The SCID 1 and the SCID 2 are well-known structured clinical interviews that have proved strong inter-rater reliability (192). The inter-rater reliability of the Norwegian version of the SCID 1 has also proved to be high (193). In our study, the local trial administrators were taught how to use the SCID 1 and 2 by two experienced psychologists certified in the use of these interviews. The local trial administrators practised on case vignettes that were assessed by these two teachers. No inter-rater reliability tests were performed. This was a pragmatic choice, balancing the cost and the purpose of the use of these instruments as they were not going to be used as outcome measures or for sub-diagnostic purposes. We believe they served their purpose in this way.

Regarding the EuropASI, we only used the part of the instrument that assesses the patient's previous and current drug use (chapter E). The local administrators at the centres were taught how to use this part of the instrument by a certified teacher. We did not perform inter-rater reliability tests, which might prove a problem to reliability of measures. The raters scored on case vignettes that were evaluated and approved by the teacher.

Regarding the SATS-r, the local trial administrators were taught how to use the instrument by experienced researchers in the research group. The SATS-r has proved strong inter-rater reliability (173). We did not perform inter-rater reliability tests among our raters; however, according to the developer of the SATS-r, clinicians are capable of using the instrument consistently and meaningfully with moderate training and reasonable familiarity with their clients (173). Thus, we have reason to believe that the instrument is a reliable measure also in the context of our study.

#### Restriction of range

Variables might be restricted to a narrow range if an experiment compares two highly similar treatments, e.g. comparing an experimental intervention to standard treatment. As the standard treatment is also effective, the difference between the two will be small and the range narrow. This restriction lowers power and attenuates bivariate relations (136). The restriction can be decreased by comparing treatment to no-treatment.

Our study is an effectiveness study, i.e. investigating the effects of our intervention under "realworld" circumstances, so comparing our experimental treatment to no-treatment was not an option. We, therefore, compared our experimental treatment to the standard "treatment as usual", thereby narrowing the range and lowering power. Another aspect of this is that there is no good definition of the term "treatment as usual", i.e. the control condition. There could have been therapists in the control group who were providing elements of the experimental treatment. This would further narrow the range and lower power.

#### Reliability of treatment implementation

If treatment is implemented inconsistently from site to site or from person to person within sites, conclusions about co-variation will be affected and decrease effect size. On the other hand, variable implementation may reflect tailoring of the intervention to the recipient in order to increase its effects (136).

In our study, we wanted to investigate our intervention under "real-world" conditions. In everyday clinical practice, clinicians face a wide range of disorders and this requires an eclectic approach, tailored to meet the needs of the individual patient. For this reason, our treatment was not manualized, but a descriptive clinical guideline manual was provided and used in staff training, which could threaten the reliability of treatment implementation.

Another threat to the reliability of implementation is whether the trained therapists actually used the intervention they were taught, or if they continued to provide the therapeutic techniques that they already knew well, i.e. treatment as usual. This would further restrict the range between the two conditions and reduce power. We did not perform treatment fidelity tests to investigate this matter.

#### Extraneous variance in the experimental setting

If features of an experimental setting artificially inflate error, conclusions about co-variation can be inaccurate, for instance, administrative changes that distract practitioners (136).

During the planning phase of our project, as part of the Addiction Treatment Reform, new national mental health service guidelines were published. These guidelines were interpreted differently by the different centres. One interpretation was to establish separate addiction outpatient units as part of the community mental health centre. This meant that the psychiatric outpatient clinic of the centre had hardly any patients with comorbid mental and substance use disorders. This could produce an extraneous variance in the experimental setting.

In addition, one of the centre leaders resigned shortly after the project started. His successor had little interest in the project and did not encourage or support the staff to continue the screening procedures required in the study. Unless the importance of screening is strongly emphasized by the local trial administrator and/or the research group and followed by strong support from the clinic management, such new routines are easily forgotten and this might further produce extraneous variance in the experimental setting.

37

#### Heterogeneity of units

When participants in a study are heterogeneous within conditions on an outcome variable, this heterogeneity will obscure systematic co-variation between treatment and outcome and give wide standard deviations. A solution would be to apply strict inclusion criteria. This, however, would reduce external validity (136).

Most of the patients in our target group are excluded from clinical research because of high attrition rates. This results in lack of knowledge about effective treatments in this group of patients. For this reason, we wanted our study sample to reflect the heterogeneous group of patients seen in everyday clinical practice. We therefore applied broad inclusion and narrow exclusion criteria, which would secure good external validity at the cost of internal validity, reducing effect-size and power.

#### 6.2.2 Internal validity

#### Ambiguous temporal precedence

Sometimes it is unclear whether A precedes B or vice versa, and the fact that A occurs before B does not necessarily mean that A causes B (136).

Our study was a longitudinal experimental study, which only allows as potential causes those variables that occurred before their possible effects. However, the study was not conducted in a laboratory, and participants were free to seek additional treatment elsewhere. If this happened, the additional treatment could affect treatment outcome. However, participants of both treatment groups could do this so it should not affect group differences in outcome measures. See also *treatment diffusion*.

#### Selection

Our study had random assignment to treatment conditions to minimize the risk of baseline differences between groups. However, this random assignment was carried out at centre level, not individual level, so there might still be a risk of selection bias and baseline differences between individuals. On the other hand, in all centres the participants were chosen by the therapists using a series of screening and assessment procedures that were the same in each centre, and possible nesting within centres was accounted for by multilevel statistical analyses. Further, as this is a group randomized trial consisting of only seven centres, the results could be biased if the performance of one centre was much better or much worse than the others. To handle this potential bias, we have used a random intercept in our linear multilevel model.

#### History and maturation

In our study, the time schedule for the assessments was originally the same. However, as the inclusion rate was greater in some community mental health centres than in others, one centre had finished including its patients while others continued into the following year. This means that the participants could have experienced different historical events that could have affected outcome measures.

As we wanted to have strong external validity, we chose participants of the same age groups that are normally treated at the community mental health centres, i.e. between 18 and 65 years of age. This means that the participants were heterogeneous regarding age and could have experienced different maturation changes.

Our study is a multi-centre study with centres from both urban and rural areas to include a representative sample of the population. For this reason, the centres were spread over a large geographical area. This could mean that they were susceptible to different historical events and maturation changes. We used multilevel statistical analyses to account for such nesting within groups.

#### Regression artefacts

When participants are selected for their extreme scores, they will often have less extreme scores on other variables, including retest on the original variable (136). This phenomenon is called "regression to the mean" (194-198). One way of explaining this is that every measure has a true score component, reflecting a true ability, and a random error component that is distributed normally and randomly around the mean of the measure. In psychotherapy this phenomenon is called "spontaneous remission" and is explained by the fact that patients come to therapy when they are more distressed than usual and therefore tend to improve even without therapy (136).

In our study, we included new referrals to the community mental health centres who scored above a certain threshold level on alcohol and drug use together with diagnostic features of substance use

disorders and depression or anxiety. According to the theory of regression to the mean, one could expect these patients to improve on the outcome measures independently of treatment. This could threaten internal validity. However, this phenomenon would be expected to occur in both treatment groups so it would not affect group differences on outcome measures.

#### Attrition

Loss of respondents to treatment or to measurement can produce artefactual effects if that loss is systematically correlated to treatment conditions. This is a subset of selection bias that is not controlled by random assignment to conditions (136).

In our study, we experienced dropout from both treatment and follow-up assessments. The dropout from treatment (defined as having had fewer than 5 sessions) did not differ between centres, but the dropout from follow-up assessments did. One centre managed to complete follow-up interviews for all patients at 6 and 12 months. At the other extreme, one centre lost 6 out of 14 patients at both follow-up sessions. The other centres lost 1–2 patients each from both follow-up sessions. The centres with the highest and the lowest dropout rates were two of the five centres in the intervention group. Otherwise the dropout rates did not differ between the centres or treatment groups, so we do not expect them to produce artefactual group differences. In addition, the general linear multilevel model that we used for the statistical analyses is meant to account for missing variables.

#### Testing

Taking a test may influence subsequent scores when the test is taken again. This may be because of acquired practice and familiarity with the tests when repeating them (136).

In our study, we repeated several of the tests at baseline and at 6 and 12 months of follow-up. One possibility is that taking tests about use of alcohol and drugs might motivate participants to reduce their use of substances independently of the treatments received. We therefore conducted the same assessments in both treatment groups so it should not produce group differences on outcome measures.

#### Instrumentation

This refers to changes in the actual instruments used, for instance, changes over time in the way a measure is taken or changes in the meaning of specific variables over different life stages (136).

Our study was a longitudinal study with repeated testing over a period of two years in total. We do not believe that this time span would affect the meaning of the variables used in the tests. The same local trial administrators conducted the assessments throughout the whole study period. Of course, these local trial administrators may, have become more proficient in conducting and interpreting these tests over time. However, if this were the case, it would have occurred in both treatment groups and should not affect group differences at outcome

#### 6.2.3 Construct validity

#### Inadequate explication of constructs

The AUDIT is a self-report questionnaire that was developed by the World Health Organization in collaboration with six different countries, Norway among them. It has proved to have strong validity and good sensitivity and specificity in identifying problematic drinking of alcohol at the chosen cut-off levels of 8 for men and 6 for women (162, 164). The instrument was developed to identify hazardous drinking of alcohol at an early stage in primary care (162). Since then, the AUDIT has proved to be applicable over a broad range of samples and settings, including estimates of the prevalence of alcohol problems among patients with somatic and mental illnesses (164). In a review of the literature, Reinert et. al. found a high degree of international consistency regarding reliability and validity (164). The DUDIT was developed by a Swedish research group as an analogous instrument to the AUDIT and has also proved to have strong validity and reliability (163). The DUDIT was translated into Norwegian by Landheim and colleagues at the Norwegian National Advisory Unit on Concurrent Substance Abuse and Mental Health Disorders and approved by the Swedish research group headed by A. H. Berman. Apart from this, the reliability and validity of the Norwegian translation has not been assessed.

In our study, we used these instruments both as an initial screening for hazardous use of substances and as a measure for change in substance use from baseline to 6 and 12 months of follow-up. As our follow-up times consisted of two 6-month periods, we changed the instructions for the AUDIT and the DUDIT to cover substance use during the last 6 months instead of the original 'last 12 months'.

41

We have no reason to believe that any of these alterations would affect the validity of these instruments. Both instruments have proved to have good test-retest reliability (164, 199). Nonetheless, as the AUDIT and the DUDIT are self-report instruments, the reliability relies on the respondent's ability and willingness to answer truthfully (164, 200). Initial screening scores could have been affected if the patient did not feel safe enough to be honest about his or her substance use before he or she got to know the therapist, or if the patient was in denial at this initial stage of treatment. If this were the case, it would mean that we cannot rely on the initial (baseline) scores. On the other hand, one would expect this to happen in both treatment groups so it should not affect group differences at outcome.

The SCID 1 and the SCID 2 are well-known structured clinical interviews. The validity of the SCID 1 has proved to be strong when conducted by clinical specialists who have been trained in using the instrument (188). The validity of the SCID 2 has proved to be strong regarding diagnoses of disorders with distinctive, behaviourally defined psychopathology (such as antisocial and schizotypal personality disorders), and not so strong validity regarding disorders whose items require more inference on the part of the interviewer (such as narcissistic and self-defeating personality disorder) (201). The SCID 1 and the SCID 2 interviews have been translated to Norwegian by Vogel and colleagues (202) and Friis and colleagues (203), respectively. The translations were discussed in the research group that approved the translation (personal communication with Prof.Emeritus S. Torgersen who was in the research group at the time). These instruments are widely used in clinical and research settings in Norway although studies of the reliability and validity of the Norwegian translations have not been conducted.

The EuropASI is the European version of the well-known Addiction Severity Index (ASI) (169, 204) which has proved to have good reliability and validity (205). The EuropASI has been translated into nine languages (204), including Norwegian. The Norwegian translation was carried out by Hidle, Lauritzen, and Skretting in 1997. It was translated back into English by a professional translator and approved by the developers of the EuropASI (personal communication with G. Lauritzen). The instrument has been used in several studies amongst patients in addiction treatment in Norway (206-209) and has been found useful for clinical and research purposes (210, 211), although studies of the reliability and validity of the Norwegian version have not been conducted.

The SCL-90 (170-172) was developed as a self-report instrument in 1977 and has been widely used in clinical and research settings. In our study, we used a Norwegian version of this instrument

translated by Nilsen and Vassend (212, 213) which has shown comparable reliability and validity with the original instrument (212). The original SCL-90 has proved moderate to good levels of theoretical agreement on nine symptom constructs in a heterogeneous group of psychiatric outpatients (171). However, the psychometric properties with regard to factorial structure have been much debated and several studies have suggested that the instrument is more useful as an indicator of general psychiatric distress as measured with the General Severity Index (GSI) parameter of the SCL-90 (214-217). In our case, this would mean that we can only rely on the GSI scores as an outcome measure in our study. Others have found that anxiety and depression are distinguishable by self-report with the use of the SCL-90 in homogeneous groups of patients with anxiety or depression, respectively (218). This could mean that the use of the sum-scores of anxiety and depression, as we used in our study, are valid as outcome measures as our patients were diagnosed with anxiety and/or depression at inclusion. Others have found that the reliability of the instrument might be questioned because patients might over- or underreport their symptoms depending on what they want to communicate to the therapist (e.g. a cry for help or denial) (219). We have no way of knowing if this is the case in our study, but if it were the case, we would expect it to occur in both treatment groups so it should not affect group differences at outcome

As integrated treatment is motivation-based, i.e. adapted to the patient's motivation for change, an approach that is based on the Stages of Change (91, 92) and the closely related Stages of Treatment (94), we used the SATS-r (158, 173) to assess the patient's motivation for changing his or her substance use behaviour during the trial. The SATS-r has proved to have strong test-retest reliability together with strong construct validity compared to comprehensive consensus evaluations (173). We used a Norwegian version of this instrument. The translation process of this instrument is unknown.

#### Construct confounding

The operations in an experiment are rarely pure representations of constructs from "the real world" (136), and as soon as we apply inclusion and exclusion criteria to define our target population, we apply restrictions that might or might not include the intended target population.

We intended to include patients with substance use disorders co-occurring with anxiety and/or depression at psychiatric outpatient clinics. We had quite broad inclusion and narrow exclusion criteria to secure external validity. We believe that we managed to include the intended target group in this way.

#### Mono-operation bias and mono-method bias

Construct validity will be lower in single-operation research because they both underrepresent constructs and may contain irrelevancies (i.e. mono-operation bias). When all operations use the same method (e.g. self-report), then this method becomes part of the construct studied (i.e. mono-method bias) (136).

With regard to our first aim, to evaluate the patients' use of substances, we used two measures; The AUDIT/DUDIT and the EuropASI. The AUDIT and the DUDIT are self-report measures that assess alcohol and illegal drug use behaviour, respectively, during the previous 6 months. The EuropASI, chapter E, is part of a structured interview that measures the quantity and frequency of the use of different substances during the last 30 days and the last 6 months. In this way, we managed to evaluate different aspects and time frames of the patients' substance use.

With regard to our second aim, the severity of psychiatric symptoms (i.e. anxiety and depression), we used one measure; the self-report instrument SCL-90R, specifically the sum-scores of anxiety, depression and the general severity index as outcome measures. The instrument comprises several questions about different aspects of anxiety and depression during the previous six months and, in this way, looks at different aspects of the issues in question.

Regarding our third aim, assessing the patients' motivation for changing his / her substance use behaviour, we used the SATS-r. This is a clinician-rated scale where the clinician is supposed to use all available data to evaluate which phase of changing his or her substance use the patient is in, thus, taking into account different aspects of the issue when assessing the patient.

#### Confounding constructs with levels of constructs

This concerns which levels of each facet of the construct are actually studied. The results might be different if different levels are studied. For example, in treatment-control comparisons the treatment might be implemented at such low levels, that no effects are observed, leading to the incorrect conclusion that the treatment had no effect. The right conclusion would be that the treatment implemented at such a low level had no effect (136).

In our study, we did not have a good measure for treatment fidelity, which means that we do not know if the treatment was implemented at a sufficient level for the patients in the intervention group to receive a different treatment from those in the control group. Many studies have shown that implementing new procedures is challenging, demanding and costly in time, and in human and monetary resources (220-225). If the experimental intervention was not implemented sufficiently, it could explain the lack of significant differences between the groups with regard to improving the use of substances and psychiatric symptoms. On the other hand, there was a significant group difference in motivation for treatment in the intervention group, which indicates that the intervention was implemented at a sufficient level to detect differential effects in some aspects.

#### Reactivity to the experimental situation

The responses of the participant not only reflect the treatment received but also the participants' perception of the experimental situation so these perceptions are part of the constructs tested (136). In addition, the fact of being asked about your substance use behaviour might start to induce a process of changing the behaviour.

To address this problem, we used exactly the same procedures for all assessments conducted at the same time points; i.e. at baseline, 6 and 12 months of follow-up, in both treatment groups.

#### Experimenter expectancies

The participants' responses can be influenced by the expectations of the experimenter about desirable responses. These expectations will then be part of the treatment construct tested (136).

The initial screening with the AUDIT and the DUDIT was performed by the different therapists at the community mental health centres. If the therapist expected the patient not to have a problematic use of substances, this expectation might affect the patient's score. This would result in a lower prevalence of problematic substance use amongst patients, and ultimately, a lower inclusion rate in the study. As recruitment to the study was slow in many of the community mental health centres, and not happening at all in one of the centres, this is an aspect that has to be considered.

All assessments were conducted by the local trial administrators and not by the person actually treating the patient. However, there were two exceptions. One of the patients became suicidal and wanted to change her therapist or leave treatment. The trial administrator, who was a senior

therapist, had to take action immediately and take on the therapy of that patient. She conducted the 12-month assessment of this patient while she was also her therapist. One of the other patients left treatment when he was committed to prison. When he was referred back to the centre after imprisonment, the trial administrator, by mistake, was assigned as his therapist. She conducted both follow-up assessments while she was also his therapist. We have no reason to believe that the assessments of these two cases would bias the results.

The best way of addressing this type of threat to validity would be blinding of treatment conditions to the therapist, the patient, and the assessor. This is, however, impossible in studies involving psychosocial interventions. It would have been possible to blind the assessor to treatment conditions if all patients were assessed at a neutral place (not at the treatment centre), but this would involve a number of practical difficulties and, most likely, result in even higher attrition from assessments. On the other hand, one would expect the assessors of both treatment conditions to want to show that their intervention gives the best results (see *compensatory rivalry* below), so this should not affect group differences.

#### Novelty and disruption effects

A novel innovation may result in unusually good responses from the participants if they get excited about this new treatment. On the other hand, the participants might respond unusually poorly to the introduction of repeated new innovations or to an innovation that disrupts their routine. Thus, these responses must be included as part of the treatment construct descriptions (136).

In our study, this issue would depend greatly on how the study was introduced to the patients by the therapists, and, this could affect the inclusion into the study. How the study was introduced to centres and followed up by the local trial administrators (and the research group) could affect the attrition from the study.

Regarding inclusion, one of our centres (control group) did not manage to include one single patient even though the inclusion period was extended by one year. They had the largest percentage of patients under the cut-off scores of the screening instruments, the highest number of patients handing in a blank screening form or not giving oral consent to participate, and they were the only centre where the clinicians deemed a number of patients not eligible for participation. Several explanations are plausible; it could be a disruption effect, or the result of insufficient implementation of the study, or inadequate support from the clinical administration or the research group. These problems could also be related to *resentful demoralization* discussed below.

Regarding attrition, one centre (in the intervention group) managed to complete all interviews for all participants at 6 and 12 months of follow-up. At the other extreme, one centre (in the control group) lost 6 out of 14 patients at both follow-up sessions. This could be the result of how well the local trial administrators managed to motivate the patients to participate, or how well the research group and clinical management managed to motivate and support the local trial administrators.

#### Compensatory rivalry

Assigning units to experimental and control conditions may motivate participants not receiving the experimental intervention to show that they can do as well as those receiving the intervention. This compensatory rivalry must then be included in the description of the treatment construct (136).

In our study, the leader of one of the centres in the control group said that they would do what they could to perform just as well as the intervention group. We have not assessed whether the patients of this centre performed better than others in the control group, but this is the only centre in the control group that managed to include the minimum expected amount of patients and that only lost 2 out of 15 patients at both 6 and 12 months of follow-up.

#### Resentful demoralization

Participants may respond more negatively than otherwise if they do not receive the desirable (experimental) treatment. Thus, this resentful demoralization should be included as part of the description of the treatment construct (136).

We encountered this attitude when we first included centres, as some of the clinic leaders stated that they would not want to participate in the study if they were allocated to the control group. Additionally, one of the included centres withdrew two months after they were allocated to the control group. They stated this was because of workload and staffing problems, but one might speculate if one of the reasons was that being part of the control group was not motivating enough to continue.

#### Treatment diffusion

When participants receive services from a condition to which they were not assigned, it makes describing the constructs of both conditions more difficult (136).

Contamination of knowledge between therapists and patients between groups was considered an obvious risk, and we therefore randomized at centre level. However, the patients participating in the study, like all other patients, are free to seek services elsewhere. Further, in the control group, it would be unethical not to refer patients to addiction treatment if the centre did not feel they had the necessary competence at their psychiatric outpatient clinic.

We did not systematically register this, but through communications with the local trial administrators, we know that several patients received treatment elsewhere. In the control group, 4 out of 15 patients in one centre were referred to group therapy, and another patient, who was lost to follow-up, received treatment at an addiction outpatient clinic. In the intervention group, one patient continued treatment at an addiction outpatient clinic after receiving 15 sessions at the assigned community mental health centre. At another centre, one patient was referred to inpatient addiction treatment after receiving 5 sessions at the centre. This patient died from an opioid overdose a couple of months later. In addition, one patient at another centre received psychomotoric physiotherapy and never turned up for treatment sessions at the assigned community mental health centre. In total, 5 patients out of 21 in the control group received additional treatment elsewhere, whilst this was only the case for 3 out of 55 in the intervention group. The three patients that were referred to addiction treatment were described as having a severe substance use disorder.

The control condition, called "treatment as usual", is a difficult term to define as it depends greatly on the preference, skills, knowledge, and resources of the therapists delivering it (138). The fact that some of the patients in the control group also got additional treatment makes the control condition even more difficult to describe and, ultimately, might affect our results by reducing effect sizes.

48

#### 6.2.4 External validity

#### Interaction of the causal relationship with units

Interaction of the causal relationship with units concerns whether our results can be generalized to people other than those studied. We intended to secure strong external validity to be able to generalize our results to the average patient at community mental health centres. We accomplished this by having broad inclusion criteria and narrow exclusion criteria. However, only 35% of the eligible patients were actually screened. Of those who scored above the cut-off levels of the screening instruments, only 31% were actually referred to the local trial administrators for baseline evaluation. In the end, only 4% of the total number of screened patients, and 24% of the patients who scored above the cut-off levels of the screening instruments.

This brings the external validity of the results into question. We have no way of comparing the patients included with those not included in the study. The question is whether the patients screened and referred for baseline evaluation were selected systematically or randomly. As discussed previously, different reasons for the therapists not to screen or refer patients for evaluation might be poor implementation of the study, an effect of novelty disruption, or an effect of resentful demoralization. In all these cases, one would expect a random selection of patients, which would not affect the representativeness of our sample. On the other hand, the total number of patients included and followed-up throughout the study is quite small (i.e. 76 patients in total, of whom only 56 are defined as completers). Hence, the interpretation of the results and generalization to patients other than those studied must be done with great care.

#### Interactions of the causal relationship with settings

This concerns whether the causal relationship is valid across different settings. The first challenge we encountered was recruiting community mental health centres. Thirty-five centres from 3 out of 5 Regional Health Trusts were invited but only nine centres agreed to participate. We do not know if the centres that agreed to participate are systematically different from those that declined, e.g. have lower workload, better staffing etc. Given the challenges the participating centres encountered, there is no indication that this was the case. We therefore have no reason to believe that the participating centres differed significantly from other centres.

After allocation to treatment conditions, one centre withdrew from the study and one centre did not manage to include any patients during the timespan of the study. This left us with seven centres. These centres were spread across the middle, western and southeastern parts of Norway, comprising both urban and rural areas. They should be representative of the settings of community mental health services in these parts of the country. Whether they are also representative of settings in other parts of the country, the northern part in particular, can be questioned.

#### Interaction of the causal relationship over treatment variations

This concerns whether an effect found with one treatment variation might hold with other variations of the treatment, if the treatment is combined with other treatments, or when only parts of the treatment are used (136).

We have investigated if the effectiveness of integrated treatment, which was originally designed for people with co-occurring severe mental disorders and substance use disorders, would apply to other patient populations, e.g. patients with less severe mental disorders co-occurring with substance use disorders. These patients have a higher level of psychosocial functioning, including activities of daily living, and housing etc., than those with severe mental disorders so not all parts of the original treatment would apply at the same degree, e.g. extensive outreach work. Another question is whether the treatment constituents we used are applicable to other patient groups and, if so, to what extent? Yet, another question is whether all the treatment constituents we used were applied to the same extent in all of the centres in our study? These questions remain to be answered.

#### Interaction of the causal relationships with outcomes

This concerns whether an effect found in one kind of outcome (e.g. one-year survival) may hold if other outcome observations were studied (e.g. five-year survival) (136).

Regarding our first outcome, we found that both groups had a significant reduction in the use of substances from baseline to 6 and 12 months of follow-up, but that there was no significant difference in the reduction of substance use between groups. We do not know if this result would hold in the long term, e.g. after two or five years. However, the longer the timespan between the intervention received and the follow-up assessments, the more questionable the relationship between the intervention and the outcome would be as the person would be affected by many factors over the longer time span.
Our second finding was that neither group experienced a significant reduction in psychiatric symptoms. We do not know if this finding would be the same if we had used other outcome measures, for example, instruments that measure anxiety and depression more specifically. Neither do we know if the patients would have improved from psychiatric symptoms over a longer time span. Some studies suggest that change in psychiatric symptoms might take longer than the change in substance use behaviour (99).

Our third finding was that the intervention group improved significantly better than the control group with regard to motivation for treatment. We do not know if this difference would persist over a longer time span, for example, after two or five years.

#### 6.2.5 Limitations of the designs

In this study, we used a pragmatic group randomized controlled design. The randomized controlled trial is the gold standard for investigating the effect of one intervention compared to another. One of the limitations of the RCT design is the very strict inclusion criteria that limit generalization to patients normally seen in clinical practice and the individual tailoring that is normally applied to treatment operations in clinical practice. To enhance generalization to everyday clinical practice, we used a pragmatic approach with broader inclusion criteria, narrower exclusion criteria and a less strict treatment manual (138). This enhances external validity at the expense of internal validity and makes it more difficult to infer causation from the intervention given.

We also used a multi-centre design to be able to acquire a larger sample size to enhance effect sizes. To avoid contamination of knowledge between conditions, we chose to randomize at a centre level. Randomization has the advantage that baseline differences due to known and unknown confounders are minimalized. However, when the randomization is done at centre-level, there might still be a risk of selection bias and baseline differences at the individual level. There is also a risk of nesting within centres. However, this can be accounted for by multilevel statistical analyses.

Multi-centre trials represent organizational, administrative, economic and treatment fidelity challenges that must be addressed by thorough planning and close monitoring. To address this, we

engaged one local trial administrator at each community mental health centre to run the project locally in close collaboration with the research group.

The adaptations to the RCT design were made to optimize external validity and effect sizes. However, these adaptations produced new challenges that are described and discussed in paper IV.

### 7. Discussion of the main results

In the following I will discuss our results in the light of other research findings.

## 7.1 Identifying patients with co-occurring mental and substance use disorders in community mental health centres

The main finding from our first paper was that the different approaches we used to estimate the prevalence of substance use disorders in our population of patients in community mental health centres gave estimates between 10 and 12 %, which is on a level with the 12-month prevalence observed in the general population (29, 49-54). Given the high comorbidity of mental and substance use disorders (29, 49, 55, 57, 226-228), one would expect the prevalence to be higher in this clinical population (60, 61, 229-235). By combining the different measures in our study, the prevalence of substance use disorders increased to 17 %, which is still somewhat low, but more comparable to what would be expected in a psychiatric outpatient population (229, 231-233).

A secondary finding was the poor agreement between the different measures. This is in accordance with the findings from a similar Norwegian study on psychiatric in- and outpatient clinics, which used data from the Norwegian Patient Register (236). In this study, 21% of the outpatients were classified with a "middle to high drug use", whilst only 48% of these patients were given an ICD-10 diagnosis of substance use disorder. Further, 23% of the inpatients were classified with "middle to high drug use" and only 32% of these patients were given an ICD-10 diagnosis of substance use disorder.

The low prevalence and poor agreement between measures raises the question of whether substance use disorder is adequately detected in psychiatric outpatient clinics. The issues concerning the reliability of measures, the validity of clinical diagnostic assessments and the possibility of a selection bias are discussed in chapter 6.1. Another explanation for the low prevalence rate could be lack of referrals of patients with substance use disorders to the community mental health centres. However, given the many findings of high comorbidity between substance use disorders and most mental disorders (29, 49, 55, 57, 226, 227, 234) one would expect higher prevalence rates of substance use disorder among patients with mental illnesses than in the general population. It is possible that clinicians do not give sufficient attention to the possibility of a comorbid substance use disorder amongst patients in psychiatric treatment facilities (63, 64). Similarly, co-occurring psychiatric diagnoses are missed in addiction treatment facilities (237). These findings suggest that using clinical diagnostic measures alone underestimates the prevalence of co-occurring disorders. To address this issue, Rush et al (233) used a combined measure to estimate the prevalence in their sample in a similar way to us. Another explanation for the poor agreement between measures could be that the different instruments used measure substance use disorders over different time periods. The AUS measures alcohol use over the last six months and the DUS measures drug use over the same period. The HoNOS item 3 measures substance use during the last two weeks and the ICD-10-codes most frequently used in this material measure current substance use. However, one would at least expect the ICD-10 and the HoNOS item 3 to overlap as they investigate approximately the same time period.

Our study has several limitations. Issues concerning the validity of clinical diagnostic assessments are discussed in chapter 6.1 and underline the necessity of good screening procedures to aid diagnostic assessments (63, 64). In addition, the participation rate was quite low and varied greatly between centres. A low participation rate is quite common in clinical studies (142, 238, 239). This might be explained by the considerable workload in most clinical practices (240), misconceptions about the trial, variable interpretation of eligibility criteria, or paternalism (142). It might also depend on how well the study was implemented in the clinics (142, 241).

Despite these limitations, our findings suggest that substance use disorders are under-detected in this patient population and this is likely to result in under-treatment and delayed recovery. Mental health services need to implement systematic screening and diagnostic procedures to identify the specific problems and needs for each patient and tailor the treatment approaches accordingly. Over the years, several screening and diagnostic instruments have been developed and tested. In 2007, the Norwegian Knowledge Centre for Health Services did a systematic review of screening and diagnostic tests for substance use disorders and mental illness (242). They concluded that the AUDIT and the CAGE questionnaire (243) were the screening instruments that best identified alcohol use disorders amongst patients with severe mental illnesses, and that the Psychiatric Research Interview for Substance and Mental Disorders (PRISM) (244) is a diagnostic tool that shows good concordance with reference standards. In addition, in recent years several screening tools that show promise have been developed to detect substance use disorders in psychiatric patient populations, such as the Dual Diagnoses Screening Interview (DDSI) (245) and the DrugCheck Problem List (PL) (246). Similarly, there are several screening tools for detecting mental disorders in substance use treatment populations. Rush et al (247) compared four such screening tools; the GAIN-short screener-Internalizing Disorder Screener (GAIN-SS IDScr) (248), the Kessler-6 (K6) (249-251), the Psychiatric Subscale of the ASI, and the Psychiatric Diagnostic Screening Questionnaire (PDSQ) (252, 253), using the SCID as the reference tool. They found that all the screening instruments performed reasonably well in detecting broad groups of mental disorders with the GAIN-SS-IDScr being the most efficient because of its shorter length.

## 7.2 The characteristics of patients with co-occurring mental and substance use disorders in community mental health centres

The main findings from our second paper were that in psychiatric outpatient clinics, patients with cooccurring substance use disorders differ from those without co-occurring substance use disorders in a number of ways.

Firstly, we found that the patients with co-occurring substance use disorder were more often male, less often in a relationship and more often living alone. This is largely consistent with other epidemiological and clinical studies (53, 57, 62, 69, 227, 254-256). Although, in some studies people who seek psychiatric outpatient treatment for depression or anxiety and who have a co-occurring alcohol use disorder, seem to be predominantly female (257, 258). Nevertheless, our findings suggest that people with co-occurring substance use disorders are a more vulnerable group and therapists should tailor their treatment plans accordingly.

Secondly, we found that the patients with co-occurring substance use disorders had more severe morbidity as measured with the HoNOS on five out of eleven parameters. Higher morbidity among patients with co-occurring mental and substance use disorders has been found in several studies (231, 233, 256, 259). One study, targeting patients in community mental health centres with measures comparable to our study, found that patients with schizophrenia in inpatient and outpatient clinics with co-occurring substance use disorders had higher sum-scores on the HoNOS than patients without this comorbidity (260). Another study found higher sum-scores on the SCL-90R on all sub-scores among outpatients with co-occurring schizophrenia and substance use disorders compared to patients with schizophrenia but without substance use disorders (67). It is essential that these issues are detected and addressed in the patient's treatment plan.

Thirdly, we found that the patients with co-occurring substance use disorder had lower prevalence of anxiety and depression compared to the patients without substance use disorders. This is in contrast to most studies in this field, which indicate a higher prevalence of other psychiatric diagnoses amongst patients with substance use disorders (49, 57, 254). However, a study on the prevalence of anxiety and depression amongst patients with co-occurring substance use disorders in an acute psychiatric ward had similar findings to our study (69). There are several possible explanations for this. Firstly, the different centres could have recruited different numbers of patients with and without co-occurring substance use disorders because of differences in the catchment areas. Secondly, it could be that patients with comorbid substance use disorder need less other morbidity before they are referred to the community mental health centres, i.e. competing risks (261). Thirdly, Patients with substance use disorders and co-occurring anxiety and depression might be referred to addiction treatment centres rather than psychiatric outpatient clinics. However, patients in addiction treatment centres might not receive adequate treatment for their co-occurring psychiatric disorders. According to a study by Bakken et. al., the number of and specific axis 1 and axis 2 disorders together with the severity of substance use disorder at admission were all independent predictors of a high level of mental distress at six-year follow-up (70). This underlines the need for good diagnostic and screening routines to detect such disorders, and competent staff to treat these conditions in an integrated way.

Our fourth finding was that the patients with co-occurring substance use disorders in these community mental health centres were treated differently than those without substance use disorders, i.e. they received less outpatient treatment and they were treated at too low a competency level according to the therapists. One explanation might be that the therapists feel they lack the competence or the resources to treat these patients in an outpatient setting. This view is in accordance with studies of clinicians in mental health centres who report that they feel unprepared and lack knowledge of patients with dual diagnosis (262, 263). This is also in line with studies which describe difficulties in implementing new knowledge and treatment guidelines for patients with co-occurring mental and substance use disorders in mental health care (222-224, 264).

Finally, we found poorer outcomes with regard to recovery from psychological symptoms as well as poorer outcomes at a borderline significance level for three of the remaining six items among the patients with co-occurring substance use disorder compared to the patients without comorbidity. This is in line with previous findings of poorer treatment outcomes for this group of patients (75), and in accordance with our other findings that these patients have greater morbidity and receive less adequate help for their problems.

There are several limitations to our study. The issues concerning fishing related problems, the reliability of measures, the validity of clinical diagnostic assessments, and adequate explication of constructs are discussed in chapter 6.1. The representativeness of outpatient clinics in Norway might also be questioned, both with regard to prevalence rates, the substances used in the catchment areas and the clinical routines in the community mental health centres. These findings should be confirmed with further studies, preferably with comparable measures between studies, e.g. screening instruments like the AUDIT and the DUDIT, structured diagnostic interviews like the SCID or the PRISM, measures for the severity of psychosocial symptoms or distress like the HoNOS or the SCL-90 and a systematic measure for evaluating the use of substances like the ASI.

## 7.3 The effectiveness of integrated treatment among patients with substance use disorders co-occurring with anxiety and/or depression in community mental health centres

Our first finding was that both treatment conditions showed a decline in the use of alcohol and other substances as measured by the AUDIT, the DUDIT, and the EuropASI. This could indicate that both interventions were effective in reducing the use of substances and that receiving treatment is more important than the type of treatment. It could also be an effect of the assessments and thereby blurring experimental contrast (265, 266), or it could be a case of "regression to the mean" (197, 198). Additionally, it could be the result of a type 2 statistical error as our sample size is quite small. A recent systematic review from 2012 looking at the effect of integrated treatment among people with substance use disorders and co-occurring anxiety and/or depression found that motivational interviewing and cognitive behaviour therapy were associated with significant reductions in alcohol consumption (267). The use of integrated treatment for alcohol and depression with cognitive behavioural therapy as the main treatment modality has also shown a greater reduction in the use of alcohol than treatment as usual (119, 268, 269). Similarly, a study that used motivational interviewing to treat substance use among outpatients with depression showed a significant reduction in hazardous drinking in the intervention group (257).

Our second finding was that none of the groups experienced a reduction in psychiatric symptoms. This might be explained by the relatively short follow-up period. A review from 2008 found improvements in mental health in the long term when motivational interviewing was combined with cognitive behaviour therapy (270) which could mean that these changes might occur later in the course of treatment. Other possible explanations could be that the SCL-90r is not sensitive to small changes or that the material is too small to produce sufficient effect sizes, i.e. type 2 statistical error. A review from 2012 looking at psychological interventions for patients with alcohol misuse cooccurring with depression or anxiety disorders, found that a combination of motivational interviewing and cognitive behavioural therapy was associated with significant reductions in alcohol consumption and depressive and/or anxiety symptoms (267). Similarly, a review from 2014 regarding integrated treatment of comorbid major depression and alcohol use disorder with cognitive behavioural therapy and motivational interviewing as the main treatment modalities showed small, but significant, effects both in decreasing alcohol consumption and depressive symptoms, compared to the control conditions (271).

Our final finding was that the intervention group improved significantly in motivation for treatment compared to the control group even though we failed to find a reduction in the actual use of substances. One study on patients with psychosis and substance use disorders using integrated motivational interviewing and cognitive behavioural therapy had similar findings as our study; the interventions did not improve outcome in terms of hospitalization, symptom outcomes, or functioning, but did improve the patients' motivation to change their substance use (272). It could be that the motivation for change occurs before the actual change in behaviour. Several studies have shown that interventions that include motivational interviewing as one of the therapeutic modalities have a positive effect on the patient's motivation for treatment and changing addictive behaviours (270, 273). Even a motivational intervention as brief as a one-hour session made a positive shift in the stages of change among opiate users at a methadone clinic compared to the control group (274).

Our study has several limitations. Issues concerning the possibilities of a selection bias and insufficient implementation of the intervention have been discussed in chapter 6.2 together with the possibility of low statistical power. The problem of low statistical power is quite common in clinical trials as most randomized clinical trials fail to enrol the target number of patients during the inclusion period (143, 273). This is even more pronounced in research involving people with substance use disorders as they commonly have high rates of attrition from both treatment and clinical trials (147, 148, 275). In two reviews on integrated psychosocial interventions for patients with substance use

disorders and co-occurring anxiety and depressive disorders, many of the studies included had small sample sizes (123, 271). Further, our study had no special focus on psychopharmacological treatment. If such treatment differed between groups it would alter the results. However, the clinicians in all the centres are obliged to deliver evidence-based treatment for each condition including psychopharmacological treatment. This is in line with our intention of tailoring the treatment to the patients need by using a broad array of therapeutic modalities. As the patients were classified as completers if they had met for as few as five sessions, one could argue that the trial mainly measures the effectiveness of motivation. On the other hand, the majority of patients in both groups received 10 sessions or more. Baker et al (276) found that a 10-session intervention was associated with better improvement in depression and global functioning than a one session brief intervention. However, such complex conditions might need longer treatment and observation time than the one-year follow up that this and most clinical trials have. Larger studies with a longer follow-up time will be needed to judge whether this intervention is cost-effective given the extra training needed to deliver it.

# 7.4 Lessons and adaptations in research involving psychosocial interventions for patients with co-occurring mental and substance use disorders

This study illustrates common challenges in conducting pragmatic multi-site group randomized clinical trials with complex interventions in a non-selected clinical population. Different strategies to overcome these challenges are discussed.

Our first challenge was to recruit centres and motivate their participation regardless of which treatment condition they would be allocated to. This process illustrated the importance of involving the participating centres at an early stage in the planning of the study both to enhance their feeling of "ownership" of the study, and to develop a design that is appropriate to the clinics' needs and workload. Strong reinforcement strategies have shown to be essential to make the effort worthwhile regardless of allocation (238, 277). One reinforcement strategy could be to give the co-workers at the centres a role that fulfils the Vancouver requirements for co-authorship (277).

Our second challenge was that the local trial administrators were a mix of people with different education, training, interests, motivation, and time available for the trial. This made it challenging to

secure data quality and adherence. Several studies have shown that securing adherence is a complex issue that requires multiple and comprehensive strategies at different stages of the trial (278, 279) together with direct involvement from the researchers at each centre (222, 280, 281). One strategy could be to visit each centre regularly, at least once a month, to ensure data-quality and uniformity in data collection between centres.

A third challenge was that the therapists did not comply with the screening routines of the study. This might be explained by heavy workload, difficulties in thematizing substance misuse and lack of support from the clinics' management. The implementation of new routines and treatment methods has long shown to be a challenge in most settings and require formidable resources on many levels (145, 222, 224, 280). Ideally, such routines should be well established before the start of the study (277).

A fourth challenge was the different referral policies between centres. Because of new national guidelines, these policies were changed during the planning phase of the trial and affected the number of eligible patients. This shows that one needs to be aware of policies (formal and informal) and organizational changes and take them into consideration when planning a study.

A fifth challenge was that only a low percentage of the patients who screened positive for substance use disorders were actually referred for further assessments to be included in the trial. The main reason was lack of consent from the patients. This could have reflected how the study was presented to the patients by the therapists, maybe reflecting the therapist's own attitudes towards the project (222, 282). It could also be explained by how comfortable or uncomfortable the therapists felt in addressing the issue of substance abuse with the client. If so, it underlines the need of extra coaching in dealing with this matter (224, 263, 283-287). Again this emphasizes the need to involve the centres at an early stage of the project planning, to ensure a feeling of "ownership" towards the study, to make sure that the centres' management is supportive and that they encourage their therapists to comply with the demands of the study. Several studies state that a prerequisite for successful implementation of a trial into a clinical setting is a supportive clinical management that motivates the clinicians to participate (222, 224, 280).

A sixth challenge was the slow and, ultimately, low inclusion rate. In our experience, extending the inclusion period did not increase the numbers to a great extent. This emphasizes the importance of focusing all efforts and resources on the original recruitment period when the clinicians and centres

are still fully focused on this task. This also minimizes the risk of therapist turnover and other additional costs (142, 281, 288, 289).

Our seventh and last challenge was to encourage patients to return for the follow-up assessments. Our experience is that the local trial administrators who put more effort into the task than was expected of them and who were the most creative managed to reach the most patients for their follow-up assessments. This underlines the fact that this type of research puts heavy demands on the participating centres and local trial administrators, and that these demands and costs are often underestimated (224, 281).

### 8. General conclusions

There is mounting literature on the high prevalence of substance use disorders and of comorbidity between mental and substance use disorders in clinical populations. However, our study provides strong evidence that this is still unrecognized in clinical practice. The study also raises questions about the reliability of the AUS, the DUS and the HoNOS when used in a busy clinical setting. At the very least, it suggests that regular monitoring and training is a prerequisite of their clinical use.

We found that outpatients with substance use disorders were more frequently male, single, and living alone, had a higher level of morbidity, less anxiety and mood disorders, less outpatient treatment and had less improvement in regard to recovery from psychological symptoms compared to patients with no substance use disorder. This means that the community mental health centres need to implement systematic screening and diagnostic procedures, preferably with validated measures, in order to detect patients with substance use disorders, to tailor the treatment to the special needs of these patients, and improve recovery.

Our second study shows that integrated treatment is effective in increasing motivation for treatment among patients with anxiety and/or depression co-occurring with substance use disorders in outpatient clinics.

Studies of complex interventions in unselected clinical populations are essential in the development of evidence-based treatments in the psychiatric and addiction field. The methodological problems are considerable but it is possible to overcome these challenges by thorough planning and by addressing the obstacles at an early stage.

62

### References

- AMERICAN PSYCHIATRIC ASSOCIATION. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition, Text Revision (DSM-IV-TR), Washington D.C.: American Psychiatric Association; 2000.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. ICD-10 : The ICD-10 Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders : Clinical Descriptions and Diagnostic Guidelines; 1992.
- AMERICAN PSYCHIATRIC ORGANIZATION. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-V): American Psychiatric Association; 2013.
- STEIN D. J., PHILLIPS K. A., BOLTON D., FULFORD K. W., SADLER J. Z., KENDLER K. S. What is a mental/psychiatric disorder? From DSM-IV to DSM-V, Psychol Med 2010: 40: 1759-1765.
- MUESER K. T., NOORDSY D. L., DRAKE R. E., FOX L. Integrated Treatment for Dual Disorders; A guide to Effectice Practice 72 Spring Street, New York, NY 10012, USA: The Guilford Press; 2003.
- HRYB K., KIRKHART R., TALBERT R. A call for standardized definition of dual diagnosis, Psychiatry (Edgmont) 2007: 4: 15-16.
- DRAKE R. E., MUESER K. T., CLARK R. E., WALLACH M. A. The course, treatment, and outcome of substance disorder in persons with severe mental illness, AmJ Orthopsychiatry 1996: 66: 42-51.
- KUSHNER M. G., MUESER K. T. Psychiatric co-morbidity with alcohol use disorders. Eighth Special Report to the US Congress on Alcohol and Health from the Secretary of Health and Human Services, Rockville, MD: U.S.: Department of Health and Human Services; 1993, p. 2.1-2.25.
- 9. KESSLER R. C. The epidemiology of dual diagnosis, Biol Psychiatry 2004: 56: 730-737.
- 10. SCHUCKIT M. A. Comorbidity between substance use disorders and psychiatric conditions, Addiction 2006: 101 Suppl 1: 76-88.
- SCHUCKIT M. A., SMITH T. L., CHACKO Y. Evaluation of a depression-related model of alcohol problems in 430 probands from the San Diego prospective study, Drug Alcohol Depend 2006: 82: 194-203.
- FALK D. E., YI H. Y., HILTON M. E. Age of onset and temporal sequencing of lifetime DSM-IV alcohol use disorders relative to comorbid mood and anxiety disorders, Drug Alcohol Depend 2008: 94: 234-245.
- FLENSBORG-MADSEN T., MORTENSEN E. L., KNOP J., BECKER U., SHER L., GRØNBAEK M. Comorbidity and temporal ordering of alcohol use disorders and other psychiatric disorders: results from a Danish register-based study, Compr Psychiatry 2009: 50: 307-314.

- SWENDSEN J., CONWAY K. P., DEGENHARDT L., GLANTZ M., JIN R., MERIKANGAS K. R. et al. Mental disorders as risk factors for substance use, abuse and dependence: results from the 10-year follow-up of the National Comorbidity Survey, Addiction 2010: 105: 1117-1128.
- 15. MUESER K. T., DRAKE R. E., WALLACH M. A. Dual diagnosis: a review of etiological theories, Addict Behav 1998: 23: 717-734.
- KELLY T. M., DALEY D. C. Integrated treatment of substance use and psychiatric disorders, Soc 2013: 28: 388-406.
- 17. MERIKANGAS K. R., GELERNTER C. S. Comorbidity for alcoholism and depression, The Psychiatric Clinics of North America 1990: 13: 613-632.
- MERIKANGAS K. R., STEVENS D., FENTON B. Comorbidity of alcohol and anxiety disorders The role of family studies, Alcohol Health Res World 1996: 20: 100-106.
- KUSHNER M. G., ABRAMS K., BORCHARDT C. The relationship between anxiety disorders and alcohol use disorders: a review of major perspectives and findings, Clin Psychol Rev 2000: 20: 149-171.
- SWENDSEN J. D., MERIKANGAS K. R. The comorbidity of depression and substance use disorders, Clin Psychol Rev 2000: 20: 173-189.
- SCHUCKIT M. Alcoholic patients with secondary depression, Am J Psychiatry 1983: 140: 711-714.
- SCHUCKIT M. A. Alcoholism and other psychiatric disorders, Hosp Community Psychiatry 1983: 34: 1022-1027.
- 23. SCHUCKIT M. A. The clinical implications of primary diagnostic groups among alcoholics, Arch Gen Psychiatry 1985: 42: 1043-1049.
- 24. KESSLER R. C., PRICE R. H. Primary prevention of secondary disorders: a proposal and agenda, Am J Community Psychol 1993: 21: 607-633.
- QUITKIN F. M., RIFKIN A., KAPLAN J., KLEIN D. F. Phobic anxiety syndrome complicated by drug dependence and addiction. A treatable form of drug abuse, Arch Gen Psychiatry 1972: 27: 159-162.
- 26. KHANTZIAN E. J. The self-medication hypothesis of addictive disorders: focus on heroin and cocaine dependence, Am J Psychiatry 1985: 142: 1259-1264.
- 27. KHANTZIAN E. J. The self-medication hypothesis of substance use disorders: a reconsideration and recent applications, Harv Rev Psychiatry 1997: 4: 231-244.
- SWENDSEN J. D., MERIKANGAS K. R. The comorbidity of depression and substance use disorders, ClinPsycholRev 2000: 20: 173-189.

- MERIKANGAS K. R., MEHTA R. L., MOLNAR B. E., WALTERS E. E., SWENDSEN J. D., AGUILAR-GAZIOLA S. et al. Comorbidity of substance use disorders with mood and anxiety disorders: results of the International Consortium in Psychiatric Epidemiology, Addict Behav 1998: 23: 893-907.
- FRIEDMAN A. S., UTADA A. T., GLICKMAN N. W., MORRISSEY M. R. Psychopathology as an antecedent to, and as a "consequence" of, substance use, in adolescence, J Drug Educ 1987: 17: 233-244.
- KUSHNER M. G., SHER K. J., ERICKSON D. J. Prospective analysis of the relation between DSM-III anxiety disorders and alcohol use disorders, Am J Psychiatry 1999: 156: 723-732.
- MAIER W., MINGES J., LICHTERMANN D. Alcoholism and panic disorder: co-occurrence and cotransmission in families, European Archives of Psychiatry Clinical Neuroscience 1993: 243: 205-211.
- KENDLER K. S., WALTERS E. E., NEALE M. C., KESSLER R. C., HEATH A. C., EAVES L. J. The structure of the genetic and environmental risk factors for six major psychiatric disorders in women. Phobia, generalized anxiety disorder, panic disorder, bulimia, major depression, and alcoholism, Arch Gen Psychiatry 1995: 52: 374-383.
- CASPI A., MOFFITT T. E., NEWMAN D. L., SILVA P. A. Behavioral observations at age 3 years predict adult psychiatric disorders. Longitudinal evidence from a birth cohort, Arch Gen Psychiatry 1996: 53: 1033-1039.
- 35. ENSMINGER M. E., BROWN C. H., KELLAM S. G. Sex Differences in Antecedents of Substance Use Among Adolescents, Journal of Social Issues 1982: 38: 25-42.
- HAGNELL O., LANKE J., RORSMAN B., OHMAN R. Predictors of alcoholism in the Lundby Study. II. Personality traits as risk factors for alcoholism, Eur Arch Psychiatry Neurol Sci 1986: 235: 192-196.
- KENDLER K. S., HEATH A. C., NEALE M. C., KESSLER R. C., EAVES L. J. Alcoholism and major depression in women. A twin study of the causes of comorbidity, Arch Gen Psychiatry 1993: 50: 690-698.
- CLIFFORD C. A., HOPPER J. L., FULKER D. W., MURRAY R. M. A genetic and environmental analysis of a twin family study of alcohol use, anxiety, and depression, Genet Epidemiol 1984: 1: 63-79.
- LIN N., EISEN S. A., SCHERRER J. F., GOLDBERG J., TRUE W. R., LYONS M. J. et al. The influence of familial and non-familial factors on the association between major depression and substance abuse/dependence in 1874 monozygotic male twin pairs, Drug Alcohol Depend 1996: 43: 49-55.
- GOODWIN D. W., SCHULSINGER F., HERMANSEN L., GUZE S. B., WINOKUR G. Alcohol problems in adoptees raised apart from alcoholic biological parents, Arch Gen Psychiatry 1973: 28: 238-243.

- GOODWIN D. W., SCHULSINGER F., KNOP J., MEDNICK S., GUZE S. B. Psychopathology in adopted and nonadopted daughters of alcoholics, Arch Gen Psychiatry 1977: 34: 1005-1009.
- ROUNSAVILLE B. J., KOSTEN T. R., WEISSMAN M. M., PRUSOFF B., PAULS D., ANTON S. F. et al. Psychiatric disorders in relatives of probands with opiate addiction, Arch Gen Psychiatry 1991: 48: 33-42.
- 43. LUTHAR S. S., MERIKANGAS K. R., ROUNSAVILLE B. J. Parental psychopathology and disorders in offspring. A study of relatives of drug abusers, The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease 1993: 181: 351-357.
- HELSE- OG OMSORGSDEPARTEMENTET. National Plan for Mental Health 1999 2006 [Norwegian]
  In: Helse- og omsorgsdepartementet, editor. Stprp nr 63 (1997-98): Regjeringen; 1997.
- 45. GRAWE R. W., HATLING T., RUUD T. Does the development of Community Mental Health Centres contribute to better health services and higher patient satisfaction? Results from investigations conducted in 2002, 2005 and 2007. Results from surveys conducted in 2002, 2005 and 2007 [Norwegian]. SINTEF A6169, Trondheim, Norway: SINTEF Helse; 2008.
- 46. SOSIAL- OG HELSEDIREKTORATET. Community Mental Health Centres between the municipalities and the centralized specialist health services [Norwegian]. In: Sosial- og helsedirektoratet Psykisk helsevern for voksne, Oslo, Norway: Sosial- og helsedirektoratet; 2006.
- RUUD T., LANDHEIM A. S., CLAUSEN H., HEIERVANG K., ODDEN S., STUEN H. K. et al. Testing ACT-teams in Norway - What do the results show? Final report [Norwegian]. 2381 Brumunddal, Norway: Nasjonal kompetansetjeneste for samtidig rusmisbruk og psykisk lidelse, Sykehuset Innlandet HF, and Akershus Universitetssykehus; 2014, p. 1-112.
- HELSE- OG OMSORGSDEPARTEMENTET. The addiciton treatment reform patient rights and changes in health legislation [Norwegian]. In: Helse- og omsorgsdepartementet, editor. Rundskriv I-8/2004: Regjeringen; 2004.
- REGIER D. A., FARMER M. E., RAE D. S., LOCKE B. Z., KEITH S. J., JUDD L. L. et al. Comorbidity of mental disorders with alcohol and other drug abuse. Results from the Epidemiologic Catchment Area (ECA) Study, JAMA 1990: 264: 2511-2518.
- BIJL R. V., RAVELLI A., VAN ZESSEN G. Prevalence of psychiatric disorder in the general population: Results of the Netherlands Mental Health Survey and Incidence Study (NEMESIS), Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 1998: 33: 587-595.
- 51. KESSLER R. C., BERGLUND P., DEMLER O., JIN R., MERIKANGAS K. R., WALTERS E. E. Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication, Arch Gen Psychiatry 2005: 62: 593-602.
- HALL W., TEESSON M., LYNSKEY M., DEGENHARDT L. The 12-month prevalence of substance use and ICD-10 substance use disorders in Australian adults: Findings from the National Survey of Mental Health and Well-Being. [References], Addiction 1999: 94: 1541-1550.
- 53. KRINGLEN E., TORGERSEN S., CRAMER V. A Norwegian psychiatric epidemiological study. [References], Am J Psychiatry 2001: 158: 1091-1098.

- 54. GRANT B. F., DAWSON D. A., STINSON F. S., CHOU S. P., DUFOUR M. C., PICKERING R. P. The 12-month prevalence and trends in DSM-IV alcohol abuse and dependence: United States, 1991-1992 and 2001-2002. [References], Drug Alcohol Depend 2004: 74: 223-234.
- 55. KESSLER R. C., NELSON C. B., MCGONAGLE K. A., EDLUND M. J., FRANK R. G., LEAF P. J. The epidemiology of co-occurring addictive and mental disorders: implications for prevention and service utilization, Am J Orthopsychiatry 1996: 66: 17-31.
- 56. HASIN D. S., STINSON F. S., OGBURN E., GRANT B. F. Prevalence, correlates, disability, and comorbidity of DSM-IV alcohol abuse and dependence in the United States: Results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. [References], Arch Gen Psychiatry 2007: 64: 830-842.
- 57. COMPTON W. M., THOMAS Y. F., STINSON F. S., GRANT B. F. Prevalence, correlates, disability, and comorbidity of DSM-IV drug abuse and dependence in the United States: Results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. [References], Arch Gen Psychiatry 2007: 64: 566-576.
- BREAKEY W. R., FISCHER P. J., KRAMER M., NESTADT G., ROMANOSKI A. J., ROSS A. et al. Health and Mental-Health Problems of Homeless Men and Women in Baltimore, JAMA 1989: 262: 1352-1357.
- 59. FLOVIG J. C., VAALER A. E., MORKEN G. Substance use at admission to an acute psychiatric department. [References], Nordic Journal of Psychiatry 2009: 63: 113-119.
- 60. HELSETH V., LYKKE-ENGER T., JOHNSEN J., WAAL H. Substance use disorders among psychotic patients admitted to inpatient psychiatric care, Nordic Journal of Psychiatry 2009: 63: 72-77.
- 61. WEAVER T., RUTTER D., MADDEN P., WARD J., STIMSON G., RENTON A. Results of a screening survey for co-morbid substance misuse amongst patients in treatment for psychotic disorders: prevalence and service needs in an inner London borough, Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2001: 36: 399-406.
- MUESER K. T., YARNOLD P. R., LEVINSON D. F., SINGH H., BELLACK A. S., KEE K. et al. Prevalence of substance abuse in schizophrenia: demographic and clinical correlates, Schizophr Bull 1990: 16: 31-56.
- 63. ANANTH J., VANDEWATER S., KAMAL M., BRODSKY A. Missed diagnosis of substance abuse in psychiatric patients, Hosp Community Psychiatry 1989: 40: 297-299.
- BARNABY B., DRUMMOND C., MCCLOUD A., BURNS T., OMU N. Substance misuse in psychiatric inpatients: comparison of a screening questionnaire survey with case notes, BMJ 2003: 327: 783-784.
- 65. DRAKE R. E., ROSENBERG S. D., MUESER K. T. Assessing substance use disorder in persons with severe mental illness, New Dir Ment Health Serv 1996: 3-17.

- 66. DRAKE R. E., ALTERMAN A. I., ROSENBERG S. R. Detection of substance use disorders in severely mentally ill patients, Community Mental Health Journal 1993: 29: 175-192.
- 67. FOWLER I. L., CARR V. J., CARTER N. T., LEWIN T. J. Patterns of current and lifetime substance use in schizophrenia, Schizophr Bull 1998: 24: 443-455.
- ADAMSON S. J., TODD F. C., SELLMAN J. D., HURIWAI T., PORTER J. Coexisting psychiatric disorders in a New Zealand outpatient alcohol and other drug clinical population. [References], Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2006: 40: 164-170.
- BONSACK C., CAMUS D., KAUFMANN N., AUBERT A. C., BESSON J., BAUMANN P. et al. Prevalence of substance use in a Swiss psychiatric hospital: Interview reports and urine screening. [References], Addict Behav 2006: 31: 1252-1258.
- BAKKEN K., LANDHEIM A. S., VAGLUM P. Axis I and II disorders as long-term predictors of mental distress: a six-year prospective follow-up of substance-dependent patients, BMC Psychiatry 2007: 7: 29.
- LAGERBERG T. V., ANDREASSEN O. A., RINGEN P. A., BERG A. O., LARSSON S., AGARTZ I. et al. Excessive substance use in bipolar disorder is associated with impaired functioning rather than clinical characteristics, a descriptive study, BMC Psychiatry 2010: 10: 9.
- MUESER K. T., YARNOLD P. R., ROSENBERG S. D., SWETT C., JR., MILES K. M., HILL D. Substance use disorder in hospitalized severely mentally ill psychiatric patients: prevalence, correlates, and subgroups, Schizophr Bull 2000: 26: 179-192.
- 73. MENEZES P. R., JOHNSON S., THORNICROFT G., MARSHALL J. Drug and alcohol problems among individuals with severe mental illnesses in South London, Br J Psychiatry 1996: 168: 612-619.
- 74. BARTELS S. J., TEAGUE G. B., DRAKE R. E., CLARK R. E. Substance abuse in schizophrenia: Service utilization and costs, J Nerv Ment Dis 1993: 181: 227-232.
- 75. BAKER K. D., LUBMAN D. I., COSGRAVE E. M., KILLACKEY E. J., YUEN H. P., HIDES L. et al. Impact of cooccurring substance use on 6 month outcomes for young people seeking mental health treatment. [References], Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2007: 896-902.
- 76. DRAKE R. E., OSHER F. C., WALLACH M. A. Alcohol use and abuse in schizophrenia. A prospective community study, The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease 1989: 177: 408-414.
- POLCIN D. L. Issues in the Treatment of Dual Diagnosis Clients Who Have Chronic Mental-Illness, Professional Psychology-Research and Practice 1992: 23: 30-37.
- COMPTON W. M., III, COTTLER L. B., JACOBS J. L., BEN-ABDALLAH A., SPITZNAGEL E. L. The role of psychiatric disorders in predicting drug dependence treatment outcomes, Am J Psychiatry 2003: 160: 890-895.
- WEISNER C., MATZGER H., KASKUTAS L. A. How important is treatment? One-year outcomes of treated and untreated alcohol-dependent individuals, Addiction 2003: 98: 901-911.

- MAGURA S. Effectiveness of dual focus mutual aid for co-occurring substance use and mental health disorders: a review and synthesis of the "Double Trouble" in Recovery evaluation, SubstUse Misuse 2008: 43: 1904-1926.
- JOHNSON J. Cost-effectiveness of mental health services for persons with a dual diagnosis: A literature review and the CCMHCP, J Subst Abuse Treat 2000: 18: 119-127.
- 82. HOFF R. A., ROSENHECK R. A. Long-term patterns of service use and cost among patients with both psychiatric and substance abuse disorders, Med Care 1998: 36: 835-843.
- RIES R. K., COMTOIS K. A. Illness Severity and Treatment Services for Dually Diagnosed Severely Mentally III Outpatients. [References], Schizophr Bull 1997: 23: 239-246.
- MINKOFF K. An integrated treatment model for dual diagnosis of psychosis and addiction, Hosp Community Psychiatry 1989: 40: 1031-1036.
- 85. SCIACCA K. An integrated treatment approach for severely mentally ill individuals with substance disorders, New Dir Ment Health Serv 1991: 69-84.
- 86. ØVERÅS S., FYHN A. B. From door opener to alibi? Evaluation of a five year clinical treatment service for people with severe mental illness and substanse abuse at Tøyen community mental health centre [Norwegian]. Fafo-rapport 521, Borggata 2b, 0608 Oslo, Norway: Fafo; 2006.
- 87. THE NORWEGIAN DIRECTORATE OF HEALTH. Norwegian Guidelines on treatment for co-occurring mental and substance use disorders [Norwegian], The Norwegian Directorate of Health, department of mental health care and addiction, Oslo, Norway: The Norwegian Directorate of Health; 03/2012, p. 1-128.
- MINKOFF K. Behavioral health recovery management service planning guidelines co-occurring psychiatric and substance use disorders, Illinois Department of Human Services' Office of Alcoholism and Substance Abuse.: The Behavioral Health Recovery Management project; 2001, p. 1-36.
- US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES. Substance Abuse Treatment for Persons with Co-occurring Disorders. In: Services U. D. o. H. a. H., editor, 1 Choke Cherry Road, Rockville, MD 20857, USA: US Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Centre for Substance Abuse Treatment; 2005, p. 1-576.
- 90. HEALTH CANADA. Best Practices Concurrent Mental Health and Substance Use Disorders, Ottawa, Ontario, K1A 0K9, Canada: Publications Health Canada; 2002, p. 1-161.
- 91. CONNORS G. J., DONOVAN D. M., DICLEMENTE C. C. Substance Abuse Treatment and the Stages of Change, New York: New York: Guilford Press; 2001.
- 92. PROCHASKA J. O. Systems of Psychotherapy: A transtheoretical Analysis: Homewood, IL: Dorsey Press; 1979.
- 93. NORCROSS J. C., KREBS P. M., PROCHASKA J. O. Stages of change, J Clin Psychol 2011: 67: 143-154.

- 94. OSHER F. C., KOFOED L. L. Treatment of patients with psychiatric and psychoactive substance abuse disorders, HospCommunity Psychiatry 1989: 40: 1025-1030.
- MILLER W. R. Motivational Interviewing with Problem Drinkers, Behavioural Psychotherapy 1983: 11: 147-172.
- 96. MILLER W. R., ROLLNICK S. Motivational interviewing: Preparing people to Change Addictive Behavior 72 Spring Street, New York, NY 10012: The Guilford Press; 1991.
- 97. MILLER W. R., ROLLNICK S. Motivational interviewing: Preparing people for Change 72 Spring Street, New York, NY 10012: The Guilford Press; 2002.
- KENDALL P. C., HOLLON S. D. Cognitive-behavioral interventions: theory, research, and procedures 1111 Fifth Avenue, New York, New York 10003, USA: Academic Press, Inc.; 1979.
- CLEARY M., HUNT G. E., MATHESON S. L., SIEGFRIED N., WALTER G. Psychosocial interventions for people with both severe mental illness and substance misuse, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008: CD001088.
- 100. KIRKHEI I., LEIKNES K. A., HAMMERSTROM K. T., LARUN L., BRAMNES J. G., GRAWE R. W. et al. Dual diagnoses Severe Mental Illness and Substance Use Disorder. Part 2 Effect of psychosocial interventions [Norwegian]. Rapport fra Kunnskapssenteret nr 25 2008 Systematisk oversikt Kunnskapsoppsummering, Postboks 7004, St. Olavsplass, N-0130 Oslo, Norway: Nasjonalt kunnskapssenter for helsetjenesten; 2008.
- 101. TSAI J., SALYERS M. P., ROLLINS A. L., MCKASSON M., LITMER M. L. Integrated dual disorders treatment. [References], J Community Psychol 2009: 781-788.
- ROSENTHAL R. N., HALLERSTEIN D. J., MINER C. R. Integrated services for treatment of schizophrenic substance abusers: Demographics, symptoms, and substance abuse patterns, Psychiatr Q 1992: 63: 3-26.
- 103. DRAKE R. E., YOVETICH N. A., BEBOUT R. R., HARRIS M. Integrated treatment for dually diagnosed homeless adults, J Nerv Ment Dis 1997: 298-305.
- 104. CHANDLER D. W., SPICER G. Integrated treatment for jail recidivists with co-occurring psychiatric and substance use disorders, Community Mental Health Journal 2006: 42: 405-425.
- 105. ZIEDONIS D. M. Integrated treatment of co-occurring mental illness and addiction: clinical intervention, program, and system perspectives. CNS Spectrums 2004: 9: 892-904, 925.
- 106. MANGRUM L. F., SPENCE R. T., LOPEZ M. Integrated versus parallel treatment of co-occurring psychiatric and substance use disorders, J Subst Abuse Treat 2006: 30: 79-84.
- 107. HELLERSTEIN D. J., ROSENTHAL R. N., MINER C. R. Integrating services for schizophrenia and substance abuse. Psychiatr Q 2001: 291-306.

- 108. DRAKE R. E., MERCER-MCFADDEN C., MUESER K. T., MCHUGO G. J., BOND G. R. Review of integrated mental health and substance abuse treatment for patients with dual disorders, SchizophrBull 1998: 24: 589-608.
- DRAKE R. E., MUESER K. T., BRUNETTE M. F., MCHUGO G. J. A review of treatments for people with severe mental illnesses and co-occurring substance use disorders, PsychiatrRehabilJ 2004: 27: 360-374.
- MCHUGO G. J., MUESER K. T., DRAKE R. E. Treatment of substance abuse in persons with severe mental illness. In: Brenner H. D., Boker W. & Genner R., editors. The treatment of schizophrenia: Status and emerging trends: Hogrefe & Huber Publishing; 2001, p. 137-152.
- LEY A., JEFFERY D. P., MCLAREN S., SIEGFRIED N. Treatment programmes for people with both severe mental illness and substance misuse, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2000: CD001088.
- 112. TIET Q. Q., MAUSBACH B. Treatments for patients with dual diagnosis: a review. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research 2007: 31: 513-536.
- HUNT G. E., SIEGFRIED N., MORLEY K., SITHARTHAN T., CLEARY M. Psychosocial interventions for people with both severe mental illness and substance misuse, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2013: 10: CD001088.
- DE WITTE N. A., CRUNELLE C. L., SABBE B., MOGGI F., DOM G. Treatment for outpatients with comorbid schizophrenia and substance use disorders: a review, Eur Addict Res 2014: 20: 105-114.
- 115. MUESER K. T., GINGERICH S. Treatment of co-occurring psychotic and substance use disorders, Soc 2013: 28: 424-439.
- 116. BAIGENT M. Managing patients with dual diagnosis in psychiatric practice, Current Opinion in Psychiatry 2012: 25: 201-205.
- 117. ROHDE P., WALDRON H. B., TURNER C. W., BRODY J., JORGENSEN J. Sequenced versus coordinated treatment for adolescents with comorbid depressive and substance use disorders, J Consult Clin Psychol 2014: 82: 342-348.
- 118. DRAKE R. E., O'NEAL E. L., WALLACH M. A. A systematic review of psychosocial research on psychosocial interventions for people with co-occurring severe mental and substance use disorders, J Subst Abuse Treat 2008: 34: 123-138.
- 119. BAKER A. L., KAVANAGH D. J., KAY-LAMBKIN F. J., HUNT S. A., LEWIN T. J., CARR V. J. et al. Randomized controlled trial of cognitive-behavioural therapy for coexisting depression and alcohol problems: short-term outcome, Addiction 2010: 105: 87-99.
- KHAN S., OKUDA M., HASIN D. S., SECADES-VILLA R., KEYES K., LIN K. H. et al. Gender differences in lifetime alcohol dependence: results from the national epidemiologic survey on alcohol and related conditions, Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2013: 37: 1696-1705.

- 121. XU Y., SCHNEIER F., HEIMBERG R. G., PRINCISVALLE K., LIEBOWITZ M. R., WANG S. et al. Gender differences in social anxiety disorder: results from the national epidemiologic sample on alcohol and related conditions, J Anxiety Disord 2012: 26: 12-19.
- SCHUCKIT M. A., TIPP J. E., BERGMAN M., REICH W., HESSELBROCK V. M., SMITH T. L. Comparison of induced and independent major depressive disorders in 2,945 alcoholics, Am J Psychiatry 1997: 154: 948-957.
- 123. HESSE M. Integrated psychological treatment for substance use and co-morbid anxiety or depression vs. treatment for substance use alone. A systematic review of the published literature. BMC Psychiatry 2009: 9: 6.
- BOWMAN V., WARD L. C., BOWMAN D., SCOGIN F. Self-examination therapy as an adjunct treatment for depressive symptoms in substance abusing patients, Addict Behav 1996: 21: 129-133.
- 125. BROWN R. A., EVANS D. M., MILLER I. W., BURGESS E. S., MUELLER T. I. Cognitive-behavioral treatment for depression in alcoholism, J Consult Clin Psychol 1997: 65: 715-726.
- 126. BROWN S. A., GLASNER-EDWARDS S. V., TATE S. R., MCQUAID J. R., CHALEKIAN J., GRANHOLM E. Integrated cognitive behavioral therapy versus twelve-step facilitation therapy for substancedependent adults with depressive disorders, J Psychoactive Drugs 2006: 38: 449-460.
- 127. DAUGHTERS S. B., BRAUN A. R., SARGEANT M. N., REYNOLDS E. K., HOPKO D. R., BLANCO C. et al. Effectiveness of a brief behavioral treatment for inner-city illicit drug users with elevated depressive symptoms: the life enhancement treatment for substance use (LETS Act!), JClinPsychiatry 2008: 69: 122-129.
- 128. MARKOWITZ J. C., KOCSIS J. H., CHRISTOS P., BLEIBERG K., CARLIN A. Pilot study of interpersonal psychotherapy versus supportive psychotherapy for dysthymic patients with secondary alcohol abuse or dependence, JNervMentDis 2008: 196: 468-474.
- BOWEN R. C., D'ARCY C., KEEGAN D., SENTHILSELVAN A. A controlled trial of cognitive behavioral treatment of panic in alcoholic inpatients with comorbid panic disorder, Addict Behav 2000: 25: 593-597.
- 130. FALS-STEWART W., SCHAFER J. The treatment of substance abusers diagnosed with obsessivecompulsive disorder: an outcome study, J Subst Abuse Treat 1992: 9: 365-370.
- 131. HIEN D. A., COHEN L. R., MIELE G. M., LITT L. C., CAPSTICK C. Promising treatments for women with comorbid PTSD and substance use disorders, Am J Psychiatry 2004: 161: 1426-1432.
- RANDALL C. L., THOMAS S., THEVOS A. K. Concurrent alcoholism and social anxiety disorder: a first step toward developing effective treatments, Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research 2001: 25: 210-220.

- 133. SCHADE A., MARQUENIE L. A., VAN BALKOM A. J., KOETER M. W., DE B. E., VAN DEN BRINK W. et al. The effectiveness of anxiety treatment on alcohol-dependent patients with a comorbid phobic disorder: a randomized controlled trial, Alcohol ClinExpRes 2005: 29: 794-800.
- DEL BOCA F. K., DARKES J. Enhancing the validity and utility of randomized clinical trials in addictions treatment research: I. Treatment implementation and research design, Addiction 2007: 102: 1047-1056.
- GUYATT G., COOK D., HAYNES B. Evidence based medicine has come a long way, BMJ 2004: 329: 990-991.
- SHADISH W. R., COOK T. D., CAMPBELL D. T. Experimental and Quasi-Experimental Designs for Generalized Causal Inference Boston, New York, USA: Houghton Mifflin Company, ; 2002.
- BLANCO C., OLFSON M., OKUDA M., NUNES E. V., LIU S. M., HASIN D. S. Generalizability of clinical trials for alcohol dependence to community samples, Drug Alcohol Depend 2008: 98: 123-128.
- HOTOPF M. The pragmatic randomised controlled trial, Advances in Psychiatric Treatment 2002: 8: 326-333.
- 139. WEISZ J. R., WEISS B., DONENBERG G. R. The lab versus the clinic. Effects of child and adolescent psychotherapy, The American Psychologist 1992: 47: 1578-1585.
- 140. PERSONS J. B. Psychotherapy outcome studies do not accurately represent current models of psychotherapy. A proposed remedy, The American Psychologist 1991: 46: 99-106.
- GROSSMAN J., MACKENZIE F. J. The randomized controlled trial: gold standard, or merely standard?, Perspect Biol Med 2005: 48: 516-534.
- 142. HOWARD L., DE S., I, TOMLIN Z., THORNICROFT G., DONOVAN J. Why is recruitment to trials difficult? An investigation into recruitment difficulties in an RCT of supported employment in patients with severe mental illness, Contemp Clin Trials 2009: 30: 40-46.
- 143. RENDELL J. M., LICHT R. W. Under-recruitment of patients for clinical trials: an illustrative example of a failed study, Acta Psychiatr Scand 2007: 115: 337-339.
- 144. HUNNINGHAKE D. B., DARBY C. A., PROBSTFIELD J. L. Recruitment experience in clinical trials: Literature summary and annotated bibliography, Control Clin Trials 1987: 8: 6-30.
- LOVATO L. C., HILL K., HERTERT S., HUNNINGHAKE D. B., PROBSTFIELD J. L. Recruitment for controlled clinical trials: Literature summary and annotated bibliography, Control Clin Trials 1997: 18: 328-352.
- LEHMAN A. F., MYERS C. P., THOMPSON J. W., CORTY E. Implications of mental and substance use disorders. A comparison of single and dual diagnosis patients, The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease 1993: 181: 365-370.

- 147. BURNAM M. A., MORTON S. C., MCGLYNN E. A., PETERSEN L. P., STECHER B. M., HAYES C. et al. An experimental evaluation of residential and nonresidential treatment for dually diagnosed homeless adults, J Addict Dis 1995: 14: 111-134.
- 148. CHOI S., ADAMS S. M., MACMASTER S. A., SEITERS J. Predictors of residential treatment retention among individuals with co-occurring substance abuse and mental health disorders, J Psychoactive Drugs 2013: 45: 122-131.
- 149. LOBMAIER P. P., KUNOE N., WAAL H. Treatment research in prison: Problems and solutions in a randomized trial, Addiction Research & Theory 2010: 18: 1-13.
- HUMPHREYS K., WEINGARDT K. R., HORST D., JOSHI A. A., FINNEY J. W. Prevalence and predictors of research participant eligibility criteria in alcohol treatment outcome studies, 1970-98, Addiction 2005: 100: 1249-1257.
- HUMPHREYS K., WEISNER C. Use of exclusion criteria in selecting research subjects and its effect on the generalizability of alcohol treatment outcome studies, Am J Psychiatry 2000: 157: 588-594.
- 152. GRAWE R. W., HATLING T., RUUD T. Does the development of Community Mental Health Centres contribute to better health services and higher patient satisfaction? Results from investigations conducted in 2002, 2005 and 2007. Revised report [Norwegian]: SINTEF Helse 7465 Trondheim; 2008.
- 153. GRAWE R. W., HAGEN R., ESPELAND B., MUESER K. T. The Better Life Program: Effects of group skills training for persons with severe mental illness and substance use disorders, Journal of Mental Health 2007: 16: 625-634.
- 154. SINTEF HEALTH RESEARCH. SAMDATA-Nøkkeltall fra spesialisthelsetjenesten. In: Midttun L., editor. SINTEF Rapport 1/09, Trondheim, Norway: SINTEF Health Research; 2008.
- 155. WING J. K., BEEVOR A. S., CURTIS R. H., PARK S. B., HADDEN S., BURNS A. Health of the Nation Outcome Scales (HoNOS). Research and development, Br J Psychiatry 1998: 172: 11-18.
- WING J., CURTIS R. H., BEEVOR A. Health of the Nation Outcome Scales (HoNOS) Glossary for HoNOS score sheet, Br J Psychiatry 1999: 174: 432-434.
- 157. DRAKE R. E., OSHER F. C., NOORDSY D. L., HURLBUT S. C., TEAGUE G. B., BEAUDETT M. S. Diagnosis of alcohol use disorders in schizophrenia, Schizophr Bull 1990: 16: 57-67.
- 158. DRAKE R. E., MUESER K. T., MCHUGO G. J. Clinician rating scales: Alcohol Use Scale (AUS), Drug Use Scale (DUS), and Substance Abuse Treatment Scale (SATS). In: Sederer L. I. & Dickey B., editors. Outcomes assessment in clinical practice, USA: Williams & Wilkins; 1995, p. 113-116.
- 159. MUESER K. T., DRAKE R. C., CLARK R. E., MCHUGO G. J., MERCER-MCFADDEN C., ACKERSON T. H. TOOlkit on evaluating substance abuse in persons with severe mental illness, Cambridge, MA: Human Services Research Institute; 1995.

- 160. LANDIS J. R., KOCH G. G. The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data, Biometrics 1977: 33: 159-174.
- 161. FLEISS J. L., COHEN J. The Equivalence of Weighted Kappa and the Intraclass Correlation Coefficient as Measures of Reliability, Educ Psychol Meas 1973: 33: 613-619.
- 162. SAUNDERS J. B., AASLAND O. G., BABOR T. F., DE LA FUENTE J. R., GRANT M. Development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): WHO Collaborative Project on Early Detection of Persons with Harmful Alcohol Consumption-II, Addiction 1993: 88: 791-804.
- 163. BERMAN A. H., BERGMAN H., PALMSTIERNA T., SCHLYTER F. Evaluation of the Drug Use Disorders Identification Test (DUDIT) in criminal justice and detoxification settings and in a Swedish population sample, Eur Addict Res 2005: 11: 22-31.
- 164. REINERT D. F., ALLEN J. P. The alcohol use disorders identification test: an update of research findings, Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research 2007: 31: 185-199.
- 165. FIRST M. B., SPITZER R. L., GIBBON M., WILLIAMS J. B. W. Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV-TR Axis I Disorders, Research Version, Patient Edition. (SCID-I/P), November 2002, New York: Biometrics Research, New York State Psychiatric Institute; 2002.
- FIRST M. B., GIBBON M., SPITZER R. L., WILLIAMS J. B. W., BENJAMIN L. S. Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis II Personality Disorders, (SCID-II). Washington, D.C.: American Psychiatric Press, Inc., 1997.; 1997.
- 167. Коккеvi A., HARTGERS C. EuropASI: European Adaptation of a Multidimensional Assessment Instrument for Drug and Alcohol Dependence, Eur Addict Res 1995: 1: 208-210.
- BLACKEN P., HENDRIKS V., POZZI G., TEMPESTA E., HARTGERS C., KOETER M. et al. European Addiction Severity Index (EuropASI): European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA); 1994.
- MCLELLAN A. T., LUBORSKY L., WOODY G. E., O'BRIEN C. P. An improved diagnostic evaluation instrument for substance abuse patients. The Addiction Severity Index, The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease 1980: 168: 26-33.
- 170. DEROGATIS L. R., CLEARY P. A. Factorial invariance across gender for the primary symptom dimensions of the SCL-90, Br J Soc Clin Psychol 1977: 16: 347-356.
- DEROGATIS L. R., CLEARY P. A. Confirmation of Dimensional Structure of Scl-90 Study in Construct-Validation, J Clin Psychol 1977: 33: 981-989.
- 172. DEROGATIS L. R. The SCL-90 Manual I: Scoring, administration and procedures for the SCL-90, Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Clinical Psychometrics Unit; 1977.
- 173. MCHUGO G. J., DRAKE R. E., BURTON H. L., ACKERSON T. H. A scale for assessing the stage of substance abuse treatment in persons with severe mental illness, The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease 1995: 183: 762-767.
- 174. SPSS INC. SPSS for Windows, Rel. 18.0.3. Chicago; 2010.

- 175. IBM CORP. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 20.0. . Armonk, NY; 2011.
- 176. Сонем J. Statistical power analyses for the behavioral sciences (2<sup>nd</sup> edn) Hillsdale, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates; 1988.
- 177. CAMPBELL D. T. Factors relevant to the validity of experiments in social settings, Psychol Bull 1957: 54: 297-312.
- COOK T. D., CAMPBELL D. T. Quasi-Experimentation: Design & Analysis Issues for Field Settings Chicago, USA: Rand-McNally; 1979.
- 179. CAMPBELL D. T. Relabeling internal and external validity for applied social scientists, Special Issue: Advances in Quasi-Experimental Design and Analysis 1986: 1986: 67-77.
- GJERSING L., CAPLEHORN J. R., CLAUSEN T. Cross-cultural adaptation of research instruments: language, setting, time and statistical considerations, BMC Med Res Methodol 2010: 10: 13.
- BLAND J. M., ALTMAN D. G. Multiple significance tests: the Bonferroni method, BMJ 1995: 310: 170.
- CAREY K. B., COCCO K. M., SIMONS J. S. Concurrent validity of clinicians' ratings of substance abuse among psychiatric outpatients, Psychiatric Services (Washington, DC) 1996: 47: 842-847.
- VAGLUM P. Earlier detection and intervention in schizophrenia: unsolved questions, Schizophr Bull 1996: 22: 347-351.
- ABORAYA A. Do psychiatrists use structured interviews in real clinical settings?, Psychiatry (Edgmont) 2008: 5: 26-27.
- 185. SHEAR M. K., GREENO C., KANG J., LUDEWIG D., FRANK E., SWARTZ H. A. et al. Diagnosis of nonpsychotic patients in community clinics, Am J Psychiatry 2000: 157: 581-587.
- RAMIREZ B. M., BOSTIC J. Q., DAVIES D., RUSH A. J., WITTE B., HENDRICKSE W. et al. Methods to improve diagnostic accuracy in a community mental health setting, AmJ Psychiatry 2000: 157: 1599-1605.
- ZIMMERMAN M., MATTIA J. I. Psychiatric diagnosis in clinical practice: is comorbidity being missed?, Compr Psychiatry 1999: 40: 182-191.
- BASCO M. R., BOSTIC J. Q., DAVIES D., RUSH A. J., WITTE B., HENDRICKSE W. et al. Methods to improve diagnostic accuracy in a community mental health setting, Am J Psychiatry 2000: 157: 1599-1605.
- WOODWARD B., FORTGANG J., SULLIVAN-TRAINOR M., STOJANOV H., MIRIN S. M. Underdiagnosis of alcohol dependence in psychiatric inpatients, Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse 1991: 17: 373-388.
- 190. BENESTAD H. B. L., P. Forskningsmetode i medisin og biofag Oslo, Norway: Gyldendal Akademisk; 2005.

- 191. ROTHMAN K. J. Epidemiology An introduction New York, USA: Oxford University Press; 2002.
- 192. LOBBESTAEL J., LEURGANS M., ARNTZ A. Inter-rater reliability of the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders (SCID I) and Axis II Disorders (SCID II), Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy 2011: 18: 75-79.
- 193. SKRE I., ONSTAD S., TORGERSEN S., KRINGLEN E. High Interrater Reliability for the Structured Clinical Interview for Dsm-Iii-R Axis-I (Scid-I), Acta Psychiatr Scand 1991: 84: 167-173.
- 194. CAMPBELL D. T., STANLEY J. C. Experimental and quasi-experimental designs for research on teaching. Chicago: Rand McNally College Publishing Company.; 1963.
- FURBY L. Interpreting Regression Toward Mean in Developmental Research, Dev Psychol 1973: 8: 172-179.
- 196. LORD F. M. Elementary models for measuring change. In: Harris C. W., editor. Problems in measuring change, Madison, USA: University of Wisconsin Press; 1963, p. 21-38.
- 197. GALTON F. Reression towards mediocrity in hereditary stature, Journal of the Anthropological Institute 1886: 15: 246-263.
- 198. ADAMS C. E., HOULE T. T., PARKER J. D., BURKE R. S. Examining changes in depressive symptoms during substance abuse treatment in the context of regression to the mean, Addictive Disorders & Their Treatment 2012: 11: 183-194.
- 199. MATUSZKA B., BACSKAI E., BERMAN A. H., CZOBOR P., SINADINOVIC K., GEREVICH J. Psychometric characteristics of the Drug Use Disorders Identification Test (DUDIT) and the Drug Use Disorders Identification Test-Extended (DUDIT-E) among young drug users in Hungary, International Journal of Behavioural Medicine 2014: 21: 547-555.
- 200. MAGGIA B., MARTIN S., CROUZET C., RICHARD P., WAGNER P., BALMES J. L. et al. Variation in audit (alcohol used disorder identification test) scores within the first weeks of imprisonment, Alcohol Alcohol 2004: 39: 247-250.
- SKODOL A. E., ROSNICK L., KELLMAN D., OLDHAM J. M., HYLER S. E. Validating structured DSM-III-R personality disorder assessments with longitudinal data, Am J Psychiatry 1988: 145: 1297-1299.
- FIRST M. B., SPITZER R. L., GIBBON M., WILLIAMS J. B. W. Strukturert klinisk intervju for DSM-IV Akse I-forstyrresler SCID - I/P (Versjon 2.0). Norwegian translation of the SCID 1. In: Vogel E. O. D., Monsen J. T., Vogel P. A., Kardel I. & Torgersen S., editors, Oslo, Norway: Centre for Clinical Psychological Research, Institute of Psychology, University of Oslo; 1995.
- 203. FIRST M. B., SPITZER R. L., GIBBON M., WILLIAMS J. B. W., BENJAMIN L. Strukturert klinisk intervju for personlighetsforstyrrelse SCID - (Versjon 2.0). Norwegian translation of the SCID 2. In: Friis S., Havik O. E., Monsen J. T. & Torgersen S., editors, Centre for clinical psychological research, Institute of psychology, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway. Department for research and education, Clinic of psychiatry, Ullevål university hospital, Oslo, Norway.; 1995.

- 204. MCLELLAN A. T., KUSHNER H., METZGER D., PETERS R., SMITH I., GRISSOM G. et al. The Fifth Edition of the Addiction Severity Index, J Subst Abuse Treat 1992: 9: 199-213.
- 205. MCLELLAN A. T., LUBORSKY L., CACCIOLA J., GRIFFITH J., EVANS F., BARR H. L. et al. New data from the Addiction Severity Index. Reliability and validity in three centers, The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease 1985: 173: 412-423.
- 206. RAVNDAL E., AMUNDSEN E. J. Mortality among drug users after discharge from inpatient treatment: an 8-year prospective study, Drug Alcohol Depend 2010: 108: 65-69.
- 207. RAVNDAL E., LAURITZEN G. Opiate users in methadone-assisted rehabilitation one year and two years after admission [Norwegian], Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen 2004: 124: 329-331.
- 208. RAVNDAL E., VAGLUM P., LAURITZEN G. Completion of long-term inpatient treatment of drug abusers: a prospective study from 13 different units, Eur Addict Res 2005: 11: 180-185.
- LAURITZEN G., RAVNDAL E., LARSON J. Through ten years. A prospective study of patients with substance use disorders in treatment [Norwegian]. SIRUS-report 6/2012, Oslo, Norway: SIRUS; 2012, p. 160.
- 210. LAURITZEN G., RAVNDAL E. Introduction of the EuropASI in Norway: Clinical and research experiences from a cost-effectiveness study, Journal of Substance Use 2004: 9: 141-146.
- LAURITZEN G. European Addiction Severity Index (EuropASI) in a prospective study on patient with substance use disorders in treatment [Norwegian], SIRUS-report 6/2010, Oslo, Norway: SIRUS; 2010, p. 1-129.
- VASSEND O., LIAN L., ANDERSEN H. T. Norwegian versions of the NEO-Personality Inventory, Symptom Checklist 90 Revised, and Giessen Subjective Complaints List: Part I. [Norwegian], Tidsskrift for Norsk Psykologforening 1992: 29: 1150-1160.
- DEROGATIS L. R. Symptom Checklist 90 Revised. Norwegian translation manual. In: Nilsen G. & Vassend O., editors; 1992.
- 214. CYR J. J., MCKENNA-FOLEY J. M., PEACOCK E. Factor structure of the SCL-90-R: is there one?, J Pers Assess 1985: 49: 571-578.
- HOFFMANN N. G., OVERALL P. B. Factor structure of the SCL-90 in a psychiatric population, J Consult Clin Psychol 1978: 46: 1187-1191.
- 216. ZACK M., TONEATTO T., STREINER D. L. The SCL-90 factor structure in comorbid substance abusers, J Subst Abuse 1998: 10: 85-101.
- 217. SCHMITZ N., HARTKAMP N., KIUSE J., FRANKE G. H., REISTER G., TRESS W. The Symptom Check-List-90-R (SCL-90-R): a German validation study, Qual Life Res 2000: 9: 185-193.
- 218. MORGAN C. D., WIEDERMAN M. W., MAGNUS R. D. Discriminant validity of the SCL-90 dimensions of anxiety and depression, Assessment 1998: 5: 197-201.
- KASS F., CHARLES E., KLEIN D. F., COHEN P. Discordance between the SCL-90 and therapists' psychopathology ratings, Arch Gen Psychiatry 1983: 40: 389-393.

- 220. GROL R., GRIMSHAW J. From best evidence to best practice: effective implementation of change in patients' care, Lancet 2003: 362: 1225-1230.
- 221. HANNES K., PIETERS G., GOEDHUYS J., AERTGEERTS B. Exploring barriers to the implementation of evidence-based practice in psychiatry to inform health policy: a focus group based study, Community Mental Health Journal 2010: 46: 423-432.
- MOSER L. L., DELUCA N. L., BOND G. R., ROLLINS A. L. Implementing evidence-based psychosocial practices: lessons learned from statewide implementation of two practices, CNS Spectrums 2004: 9: 926-936, 942.
- 223. DRAKE R. E., LATIMER E. Lessons learned in developing community mental health care in North America, World Psychiatry 2012: 11: 47-51.
- 224. JOHNSON M., JACKSON R., GUILLAUME L., MEIER P., GOYDER E. Barriers and facilitators to implementing screening and brief intervention for alcohol misuse: a systematic review of qualitative evidence, Journal of Public Health 2011: 33: 412-421.
- FORSNER T., HANSSON J., BROMMELS M., WISTEDT A. A., FORSELL Y. Implementing clinical guidelines in psychiatry: a qualitative study of perceived facilitators and barriers, BMC Psychiatry 2010: 10: 8.
- 226. LAI M. X. H., SITHARTHAN T., HUANG R. Q. Exploration of the comorbidity of alcohol use disorders and mental health disorders among inpatients presenting to all hospitals in New South Wales, Australia, Subst Abus 2012: 33: 138-145.
- 227. BOSCHLOO L., VOGELZANGS N., SMIT J. H., VAN DEN BRINK W., VELTMAN D. J., BEEKMAN A. T. et al. Comorbidity and risk indicators for alcohol use disorders among persons with anxiety and/or depressive disorders: Findings from the Netherlands Study of Depression and Anxiety (NESDA), J Affect Disord 2011: 131: 233-242.
- 228. SCHNEIER F. R., FOOSE T. E., HASIN D. S., HEIMBERG R. G., LIU S. M., GRANT B. F. et al. Social anxiety disorder and alcohol use disorder co-morbidity in the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions, Psychol Med 2010: 40: 977-988.
- NEHLIN C., GRONBLADH L., FREDRIKSSON A., JANSSON L. Alcohol and drug use, smoking, and gambling among psychiatric outpatients: A 1-year prevalence study, Subst Abus 2013: 34: 162-168.
- FORD J. G., HOWERTON M. W., LAI G. Y., GARY T. L., BOLEN S., GIBBONS M. C. et al. Barriers to recruiting underrepresented populations to cancer clinical trials: a systematic review, Cancer 2008: 112: 228-242.
- WYMAN K., CHAMBERLAIN J., CASTLE D. Anxiety, psychosis and substance use: Prevalence, correlates and recognition in an outpatient mental health setting, African Journal of Psychiatry 2011: 14: 218-224.

- 232. SATRE D., WOLFE W., EISENDRATH S., WEISNER C. Computerized screening for alcohol and drug use among adults seeking outpatient psychiatric services. Psychiatr Serv 2008: 441-444.
- 233. RUSH B., KOEGL C. J. Prevalence and profile of people with co-occurring mental and substance use disorders within a comprehensive mental health system, The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry / La Revue canadienne de psychiatrie 2008: 810-821.
- 234. TIZIANA F., CRISTIANA M., BARBARA C., MARA S., VINCENZO V., PAOLA R. Substance use disorders in hospitalized psychiatric patients: the experience of one psychiatric emergency service in Turin, Compr Psychiatry 2014: 55: 1234-1243.
- LANGAS A.-M., MALT U. F., OPJORDSMOEN S. Substance use disorders and comorbid mental disorders in first-time admitted patients from a catchment area, Eur Addict Res 2011: 18: 16-25.
- LILLEENG S. Patients with substance abuse and co-occurring mental disorders in adult mental health services [Norwegian]. SINTEF A1159, Trondheim, Oslo: Sintef Health Research; 2007, p. 99.
- 237. WYNN R., LANDHEIM A., HOXMARK E. Which factors influence psychiatric diagnosing in substance abuse treatment?, International Journal of Mental Health Systems 2013: 7.
- 238. RENDELL J. M., MERRITT R. K., GEDDES J. R. Incentives and disincentives to participation by clinicians in randomised controlled trials, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2007.
- 239. TREWEEK S., MITCHELL E., PITKETHLY M., COOK J., KJELDSTROM M., TASKILA T. et al. Strategies to improve recruitment to randomised controlled trials, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2010.
- 240. TYRER P., AL MUDERIS O., GULBRANDSEN D. Distribution of case-load in community mental health teams. [References], Psychiatric Bulletin 2001: 25: 10-12.
- MAY C. R., MAIR F., FINCH T., MACFARLANE A., DOWRICK C., TREWEEK S. et al. Development of a theory of implementation and integration: Normalization Process Theory, Implementation Science 2009: 4.
- 242. LARUN L., HELSETH V., BRAMNESS J. G., GRÅWE R. W., HAUGERUD H., HØIE B. et al. Dual diagnoses Substance Use Disorder and Severe Mental Illness Part 1 – Accuracy of screening- and diagnostic instruments [Norwegian]. Rapport fra Kunnskapssenteret nr 21–2007 Kunnskapsoppsummering, Postboks 7004, St. Olavsplass, N-0130 Oslo, Norway: Nasjonalt kunnskapssenter for helsetjenesten; 2007, p. 80.
- 243. EWING J. A. Detecting alcoholism. The CAGE questionnaire, JAMA 1984: 252: 1905-1907.
- 244. HASIN D. S., TRAUTMAN K. D., MIELE G. M., SAMET S., SMITH M., ENDICOTT J. Psychiatric Research Interview for Substance and Mental Disorders (PRISM): reliability for substance abusers, AmJ Psychiatry 1996: 153: 1195-1201.

- 245. MESTRE-PINTO J. I., DOMINGO-SALVANY A., MARTIN-SANTOS R., TORRENS M., PSYCOBARCELONA G. Dual diagnosis screening interview to identify psychiatric comorbidity in substance users: development and validation of a brief instrument, Eur Addict Res 2014: 20: 41-48.
- 246. KAVANAGH D. J., TREMBATH M., SHOCKLEY N., CONNOLLY J., WHITE A., ISAILOVIC A. et al. The DrugCheck Problem List: A new screen for substance use disorders in people with psychosis, Addict Behav 2011: 36: 927-932.
- 247. RUSH B., CASTEL S., BRANDS B., TONEATTO T., VELDHUIZEN S. Validation and comparison of diagnostic accuracy of four screening tools for mental disorders in people seeking treatment for substance use disorders, J Subst Abuse Treat 2013: 44: 375-383.
- 248. DENNIS M. L., CHAN Y. F., FUNK R. R. Development and validation of the GAIN Short Screener (GSS) for internalizing, externalizing and substance use disorders and crime/violence problems among adolescents and adults, Am J Addict 2006: 15 Suppl 1: 80-91.
- KESSLER R. C., ANDREWS G., COLPE L. J., HIRIPI E., MROCZEK D. K., NORMAND S. L. et al. Short screening scales to monitor population prevalences and trends in non-specific psychological distress, Psychol Med 2002: 32: 959-976.
- 250. KESSLER R. C., BARKER P. R., COLPE L. J., EPSTEIN J. F., GFROERER J. C., HIRIPI E. et al. Screening for serious mental illness in the general population, Arch Gen Psychiatry 2003: 60: 184-189.
- 251. HESSE M., THYLSTRUP B. Screening substance-dependent patients for mental disorders with the Kessler-6, Journal of Dual Diagnosis 2012: 8: 229-237.
- 252. ZIMMERMAN M., MATTIA J. I. The Psychiatric Diagnostic Screening Questionnaire: development, reliability and validity, Compr Psychiatry 2001: 42: 175-189.
- 253. ZIMMERMAN M., SHEERAN T., CHELMINSKI I., YOUNG D. Screening for psychiatric disorders in outpatients with DSM-IV substance use disorders, J Subst Abuse Treat 2004: 26: 181-188.
- 254. HASIN D. S., STINSON F. S., OGBURN E., GRANT B. F., STINSON F. S., OGBURN E. et al. Prevalence, correlates, disability, and comorbidity of DSM-IV alcohol abuse and dependence in the United States: results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions, Arch Gen Psychiatry 2007: 64: 830-842.
- 255. SATRE D. D., CHI F. W., EISENDRATH S., WEISNER C. Subdiagnostic alcohol use by depressed men and women seeking outpatient psychiatric services: Consumption patterns and motivation to reduce drinking, Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research 2011: 35: 695-702.
- 256. HOWLAND R. H., RUSH A., WISNIEWSKI S. R., TRIVEDI M. H., WARDEN D., FAVA M. et al. Concurrent anxiety and substance use disorders among outpatients with major depression: Clinical features and effect on treatment outcome, Drug Alcohol Depend 2009: 99: 248-260.
- SATRE D. D., DELUCCHI K., LICHTMACHER J., STERLING S. A., WEISNER C. Motivational interviewing to reduce hazardous drinking and drug use among depression patients, J Subst Abuse Treat 2013: 44: 323-329.

- COURBASSON C. M., NISHIKAWA Y. Cognitive behavioral group therapy for patients with coexisting social anxiety disorder and substance use disorders: A pilot study, Cognit Ther Res 2010: 34: 82-91.
- 259. LEVY B., MANOVE E., WEISS R. D. Recovery of cognitive functioning in patients with co-occurring bipolar disorder and alcohol dependence during early remission from an acute mood episode, Ann Clin Psychiatry 2012: 24: 143-154.
- NAEEM F., KINGDON D., TURKINGTON D. Cognitive behaviour therapy for Schizophrenia in patients with mild to moderate substance misuse problems, Cognitive Behaviour Therapy 2005: 34: 207-215.
- 261. KAUFMANN C. N., CHEN L.-Y., CRUM R. M., MOJTABAI R. Treatment seeking and barriers to treatment for alcohol use in persons with alcohol use disorders and comorbid mood or anxiety disorders, Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2014: 49: 1489-1499.
- DEANS C., SOAR R. Caring for clients with dual diagnosis in rural communities in Australia: The experience of mental health professionals. [References], J Psychiatr Ment Health Nurs 2005: 268-274.
- HOWARD V., HOLMSHAW J. Inpatient staff perceptions in providing care to individuals with cooccurring mental health problems and illicit substance use, J Psychiatr Ment Health Nurs 2010: 17: 862-872.
- LEHMAN A. F., STEINWACHS D. M. Patterns of usual care for schizophrenia: initial results from the Schizophrenia Patient Outcomes Research Team (PORT) Client Survey, Schizophr Bull 1998: 24: 11-20.
- BAKER A., TURNER A., KAY-LAMBKIN F. J., LEWIN T. J. The long and the short of treatments for alcohol or cannabis misuse among people with severe mental disorders, Addict Behav 2009: 34: 852-858.
- KYPRI K., LANGLEY J. D., SAUNDERS J. B., CASHELL-SMITH M. L. Assessment may conceal therapeutic benefit: findings from a randomized controlled trial for hazardous drinking, Addiction 2007: 102: 62-70.
- BAKER A. L., THORNTON L. K., HILES S., HIDES L., LUBMAN D. I. Psychological interventions for alcohol misuse among people with co-occurring depression or anxiety disorders: a systematic review, J Affect Disord 2012: 139: 217-229.
- 268. WATKINS K. E., HUNTER S., HEPNER K., PADDOCK S., ZHOU A., DE LA CRUZ E. Group cognitivebehavioral therapy for clients with major depression in residential substance abuse treatment, PsychiatrServ 2012: 63: 608-611.
- 269. KUSHNER M. G., MAURER E. W., THURAS P., DONAHUE C., FRYE B., MENARY K. R. et al. Hybrid cognitive behavioral therapy versus relaxation training for co-occurring anxiety and alcohol disorder: A randomized clinical trial, J Consult Clin Psychol 2013: 81: 429-442.

- 270. CLEARY M., HUNT G., MATHESON S., SIEGFRIED N., WALTER G. Psychosocial interventions for people with both severe mental illness and substance misuse, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008: CD001088.
- RIPER H., ANDERSSON G., HUNTER S. B., DE WIT J., BERKING M., CUIJPERS P. Treatment of comorbid alcohol use disorders and depression with cognitive-behavioural therapy and motivational interviewing: a meta-analysis, Addiction 2014: 109: 394-406.
- 272. BARROWCLOUGH C., HADDOCK G., WYKES T., BEARDMORE R., CONROD P., CRAIG T. et al. Integrated motivational interviewing and cognitive behavioural therapy for people with psychosis and comorbid substance misuse: randomised controlled trial, BMJ 2010: 341: c6325.
- MILLER W. R. Motivational interviewing: research, practice, and puzzles, Addict Behav 1996: 21: 835-842.
- ENGLISH R., LEBOVITZ Y., GRIFFIN R. Transforming Clinical Research in the United States: Challenges and Opportunities: Workshop Summary Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press, ; 2010.
- 275. LEHMAN A. F., HERRON J. D., SCHWARTZ R. P., MYERS C. P. Rehabilitation for adults with severe mental illness and substance use disorders: A clinical trial, J Nerv Ment Dis 1993: 86-90.
- 276. BAKER A. L., KAVANAGH D. J., KAY-LAMBKIN F. J., HUNT S. A., LEWIN T. J., CARR V. J. et al. Randomized controlled trial of MICBT for co-existing alcohol misuse and depression: Outcomes to 36months, J Subst Abuse Treat 2014: 46: 281-290.
- JOBES D. A., BRYAN C. J., NEAL-WALDEN T. A. Conducting suicide research in naturalistic clinical settings, J Clin Psychol 2009: 65: 382-395.
- 278. SHUMAKER S. A., DUGAN E., BOWEN D. J. Enhancing adherence in randomized controlled clinical trials, Control Clin Trials 2000: 21: 226S-232S.
- 279. SPRAGUE S., LEECE P., BHANDARI M., TORNETTA P., III, SCHEMITSCH E., SWIONTKOWSKI M. F. et al. Limiting loss to follow-up in a multicenter randomized trial in orthopedic surgery, Control Clin Trials 2003: 24: 719-725.
- BLAKELY T. J., DZIADOSZ G. M. Creating an agency integrated treatment program for cooccurring disorders. [References], American Journal of Psychiatric Rehabilitation 2007: 1-18.
- LONGBOTTOM M. E., ROBERTS J. N., TOM M., HUGHES S. E., HOWARD V. J., SHEFFET A. J. et al. Interventions to increase enrollment in a large multicenter phase 3 trial of carotid stenting vs. endarterectomy, Int J Stroke 2012: 7: 447-453.
- 282. FORD E., JENKINS V., FALLOWFIELD L., STUART N., FAREWELL D., FAREWELL V. Clinicians' attitudes towards clinical trials of cancer therapy, Br J Cancer 2011: 104: 1535-1543.
- 283. LOCK C. A., KANER E., LAMONT S., BOND S. A qualitative study of nurses' attitudes and practices regarding brief alcohol intervention in primary health care, J Adv Nurs 2002: 39: 333-342.

- 284. BEICH A., GANNIK D., MALTERUD K. Screening and brief intervention for excessive alcohol use: qualitative interview study of the experiences of general practitioners, BMJ 2002: 325: 870.
- 285. AIRA M., KAUHANEN J., LARIVAARA P., RAUTIO P. Factors influencing inquiry about patients' alcohol consumption by primary health care physicians: qualitative semi-structured interview study, Fam Pract 2003: 20: 270-275.
- 286. RUSH B. R., POWELL L. Y., CROWE T. G., ELLIS K. Early intervention for alcohol use: family physicians' motivations and perceived barriers, Can Med Assoc J 1995: 152: 863-869.
- AVERY J., DIXON L., ADLER D., OSLIN D., HACKMAN A., FIRST M. et al. Psychiatrists' attitudes toward individuals with substance use disorders and serious mental illness, Journal of Dual Diagnosis 2013: 9: 322-326.
- 288. PATEL M. X., DOKU V., TENNAKOON L. Challenges in recruitment of research participants, Advances in Psychiatric Treatment 2003: 9: 229-238.
- ASHERY R. S., MCAULIFFE W. E. Implementation issues and techniques in randomized trials of outpatient psychosocial treatments for drug abusers: recruitment of subjects, Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse 1992: 18: 305-329.

#### Errata

Page 6, paragraph 2, line 3: the OR of 2.8 is corrected to 2.6

This error is repeated in paper I, page 1, column 2, line 2.